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HRH Prince Mohammed bin Nawaf Al Saud:
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia’s Ambassador to the UK
I am delighted to be joining Sir John Jenkins in
providing a foreword to Discovering Business in Saudi
Arabia and in welcoming you to join us in business
and investment in the Kingdom.
This publication highlights the vibrant economic and
investment relationship that exists between our two
Kingdoms and gives you a clear idea of the huge
opportunities for British business in Saudi Arabia in all
sectors: from oil, gas, construction and finance to
education, health and housing. We hope it will inspire
you to take the next step towards becoming a part of
this thriving relationship.
Under the leadership of the Custodian of the Two Holy
Mosques, King Abdullah bin Abdulaziz, Saudi Arabia
benefits from a strong, free economy and a stable and
progressive government.
6

Our Kingdom is the 14th largest country in the world
and our abundance of natural resources has enabled
us to become one of the world’s fastest growing
economies. We are the world’s largest producer and
exporter of oil and hold the largest proven oil reserves
and we have made it our business to be a stabilising
force in terms of energy supplies.
We are the largest economy in the MENA region and a
member of the G20, OPEC and the WTO. The World
Bank has listed Saudi Arabia as one of the most
economically competitive and business friendly
nations in the world.
We are in the midst of a massive development
programme, building new industrial cities as well as
further developing our infrastructure to meet the
needs of the 21st century. To achieve that necessary
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Friendship brings us together and is the bridge that
leads to better understanding and that can only lead to
better business.
growth, we need to diversify and to do that we need partners. We want
to see UK business and investment at the heart of the Kingdom’s
economic development.

which was witnessed by the Saudi Minister of Justice, Sheikh
Muhammad Al Issa. The establishment of an Arbitration Centre in Saudi
Arabia has now been approved by the Kingdom’s Council of Ministers.

All important as that economic development is - and you will find it
outlined within the pages of this magazine - it is underpinned by a
political and cultural friendship between our two Kingdoms that goes
back over a hundred years. We have supported one another in times of
trouble and celebrated our successes with one another.

I also want to mention the Saudi-British Joint Committee. This
important committee was successfully re-launched this year by three
British Ministers and by the Saudi Minister of Commerce and Industry,
Dr Tawfiq Al Rabeeah. He also presided over and helped breathe new
life into the Saudi-British Joint Business Council injecting dynamism
into our commercial relationship.

Friendship brings us together and is the bridge that leads to better
understanding and that can only lead to better business.
Our mission at the embassy here in London, is to help develop that
bridge, to smooth the way for business. We are a fulcrum here to
support you and the work done by independent business organisations
like the Saudi Chambers of Commerce in the Kingdom and the Arab
British Chamber of Commerce in London. They have recently
established a joint not-for-profit Arbitration Partnership. My Embassy
was proud to host the signing of an Agreement to that effect last year,

Saudi Arabia has a history of sharing its wealth and working with other
countries and international organisations to help others achieve the
kind of prosperity we enjoy in the Kingdom. As the founder and unifier
of modern Saudi Arabia, King Abdulaziz, Ibn Saud, used to say: “A man
is not rich if his neighbours are poor”. In this global and evermore
connected economy, we are all neighbours.
In the spirit of good neighbours let us continue to work together
towards our mutual stability and success.
7
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Sir John Jenkins KCMG LVO:
British Ambassador to the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
I am delighted to be invited once more to provide a
foreword to the Discovering Business in Saudi
Arabia publication.
The relationship between the UK and Saudi Arabia is
close and historic. It is important to both of us and
continues to flourish. Saudi Arabia remains our largest
trading partner in the Middle East and is designated a
high growth market by UK Trade & Investment, with a
significant number of high value opportunities.
The UK is the Kingdom’s second largest cumulative
investor, with over 200 joint ventures worth an
estimated £11.5 billion. UK exports of goods to Saudi
Arabia rose by 29% in 2013 to £4.2 billion, and more
UK firms are actively seeking to establish a physical
presence in the Kingdom in order to gain a foothold in
this high growth market. Saudi investment in the UK is
8

also increasing and Saudi exports to the UK grew by
nearly 50% to £2.6 billion in 2013.
Saudi Arabia already has the largest market in the
MENA region, and has had a consistently high ranking
in terms of ease of doing business. Saudi Arabia has
witnessed a period of relatively high growth and
economic progress over the past few years. This has
been based on a strong oil sector and record oil
revenues, allowing the Kingdom to increase public
spending on infrastructure and welfare, to match the
increasing needs of a fast growing Saudi population. In
turn the non-oil private sector is feeding off this upturn
in public spending and the Saudi economy is
diversifying away from its traditional sector strengths
with massive development and investment throughout
the Kingdom across a wide range of new and
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The relationship between the UK and Saudi Arabia is
close and historic. It is important to both of us and
continues to flourish.
developing sectors, such as healthcare, education, construction and
manufacturing. The Government is encouraging the growth of the
private sector and foreign investment through new initiatives and the
opening up of previously restricted industries.
There are growing opportunities for both established and innovative
businesses of all sizes. Many UK firms have already benefited from
establishing themselves in the Kingdom, particularly where they have
been able to invest in vocational and technical training in support of
Saudisation, a Saudi policy concentrating on creating more
employment opportunities for Saudi citizens and reducing dependance
on imported labour.
‘Discovering Business in Saudi Arabia 2014|2015’ will reach a wide
target audience of companies and individuals interested in doing

business in the Kingdom. This publication will be distributed at major
conferences, trade missions and road shows connected to Saudi
Arabia and will also be available online. The overviews of key sectors
and business opportunities have been updated. They offer a detailed
view of high value projects and opportunities and will direct readers to
sources of information, advice and support.
UK Trade & Investment have a significant presence in Saudi Arabia,
with offices in Riyadh, Jeddah and Al Khobar, with a wide range of
sector expertise available to assist and advise UK companies. I
encourage companies wishing to enter and compete in the Saudi
market to contact the UKTI team and look forward to celebrating even
more British successes in this important growth market. I hope you find
this guide useful.
9
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Massive investment plans
present huge opportunities for British
business in Saudi Arabia
Saudi Arabia has a fast growing economy, built principally on its huge
petrochemical industry, and represents a large and growing market for
British businesses, being the UK’s largest trading partner in the Gulf
region. At the same time, it is also one of the biggest foreign investors
in the UK, with estimates suggesting that the total value of Saudi
investment in the UK, is more than US$100 billion.
That closeness between the UK and Saudi Arabia was reflected in the
conclusions by the House of Commons Foreign Affairs Committee in
its review of relations with the Kingdom, published in November 2013,
which recognised the importance of the relationship and noted that
“the growing Saudi market and the Saudi Government’s spending
plans offer huge opportunities for British business across a wide range
of sectors”.
Setting the scene, the report notes that Saudi Arabia is already the UK’s
largest market in the Middle East, comprising 20% of our exports in
goods and services to the region in 2011, and it is our 18th largest
market globally, with US$12.5 billion in exports of goods and services
in 2012. In addition, the UK is also the second largest cumulative
10

investor in Saudi Arabia after the US, according to UKTI, with a total of
approximately 200 UK/Saudi joint ventures, representing a total
investment of more than US$18 billion.
“We recommend that the (UK) Government facilitate a leading role for
British businesses in international consortiums to bid for projects in
Saudi Arabia”, says the Foreign Affairs Committee’s Report. “Given the
large scale opportunities available, we see no reason why the UK
should not set ambitious targets for growth in UK-Saudi trade and
investment”, it added.
Confirmation that there were indeed large scale opportunities for
British business came in May 2014, when Abdullatif Al-Othman,
Governor of the Saudi Arabian General Investment Authority (SAGIA),
the body established to encourage investment in the Kingdom, visited
London along with Saudi officials to meet British companies and
outline opportunities in major rail, healthcare and construction
projects that are opening up in the Kingdom.
“UK companies have an advantage in Saudi Arabia due to the long
standing relationship and understanding between our two countries”,
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Al-Othman said in an interview with the Daily Telegraph. "If you look at
the relationship between Saudi Arabia and the UK, Britain has played a
significant role in our development journey since the early years. There
is an appreciation of what British companies can bring to the table”.
UK-Saudi relations have a long history that stretches back to the mid
19th century, when the British explorer, Sir Richard Francis Burton,
disguised himself as a Muslim doctor in order to explore Arabia at a
time when few were allowed to venture into the region. Sir Richard
was followed by T.E. Lawrence and Bertram Thomas, who became the
first Europeans to cross Saudi’s infamous Rub al Khali, or "Empty
Quarter" desert.
It is easy to see why the Kingdom is such an attractive market. The
young, growing population of 29 million people live in by far the
largest country in the Gulf region and one with a GDP of more than
US$727 billion. A large part of this wealth comes from huge oil
reserves, which at more than 250 billion proven barrels, account for a
quarter of the world’s entire crude. The Government plays a significant
global role and Saudi Arabia is the only Arab country to be recognised
as one of the world’s most influential economies.
Huge sales of defence equipment, including those of Tornado and
Typhoon fighter jets, have represented massive opportunities for UK

defence equipment manufacturers. “We have seen no conclusive proof
that Saudi Arabia has misused the equipment sold by the UK, and the
UK provides training alongside its sales programmes, which enhances
the UK-Saudi defence relationship and benefits the Saudi forces’
training”, says the Foreign Affairs Committee Report.
Transport and healthcare are major infrastructure priorities, and
therefore immediate opportunities for British and international
businesses. More than US$100 billion worth of rail schemes are
currently planned, or under construction, including the North-South
line, an east west route from Riyadh to Jeddah and metro schemes in
Riyadh and Jeddah.
Besides transport, Saudi Arabia is also improving facilities in the Holy
Cities, including the US$21.3 billion redevelopment of the Grand
Mosque in Mecca and new housing projects for pilgrims in both
11
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UK companies have an advantage in Saudi Arabia due
to the long standing relationship and understanding
between our two countries.
Mecca and Medina. At the same time it is developing a series of new
Economic Cities, to spread the population throughout the country and
diversify the economy. King Abdullah Economic City on the west coast
is the most ambitious, with a cost of US$90 billion and a nearly
completed port.
Within the healthcare sector, the Government has committed around
US$100 billion to a five year healthcare improvement programme,
which envisages construction of some 140 new hospitals, effectively
doubling the size of the Ministry of Health, which currently runs 60%
of the country’s healthcare facilities.
Education is another sector receiving heavy investment. Some
US$54.4 billion was committed during 2013, for example, on projects
that included construction of 539 new schools; upgrading of 2,000
12

school buildings; building more classrooms; and improving safety
measures. Furthermore, it plans to open 15 colleges, build housing
facilities for faculty members of newly formed universities, and
construct three university hospitals and technical colleges.
Spending on health and social affairs totalled more than US$25 billion
in 2013, an increase of 16% on the 2012 total. This was used for the
construction of Primary Care Centres and 19 new hospitals, as well as
improved or new stadia and sports facilities in 22 towns, 15 social
welfare centres and labour offices.
Saudi Arabia is seeking investors to back its US$109 billion plan to
create a solar sector, capable of providing 30% of its electricity by
2032. The plan aims to install 23.9 gigawatts (GW) of renewable power
capacity by 2020, and 54.1GW by 2032. Saudi Arabia wants most of
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the new renewable energy capacity to come from two solar power
technologies, but is also seeking to generate electricity from wind,
geothermal and waste to energy projects.
Construction remains one of the major driving forces in Saudi Arabia’s
economic performance and was expected to have grown 20% by the
end of 2013. The Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) construction market
is presently valued at US$1.5 trillion, of which Saudi Arabia accounts
for a total of US$629 billion, making it the largest construction hub in
the Gulf. Approximately US$442 billion of projects are in the design,
bidding or construction stage.
In its latest report on business prospects, Business Monitor
International (BMI) forecast that non-hydrocarbon growth in Saudi
Arabia will remain buoyant over 2014 and 2015, spurred by sustained
domestic demand and the Government's infrastructure spending. The
BMI Report forecasts overall GDP growth of 4.6% in 2014 and 3.6%
in 2015.
A significant advantage for British businesses looking at setting up in
the Kingdom, is that unlike other States in the six strong GCC, Saudi
Arabia allows 100% ownership of a foreign business, which Al-Othman
claims is a significant competitive advantage. What he and the Saudi
Government aim to attract are long term partners when awarding major
investment schemes, or contracts for projects, particularly those that

are prepared to invest in creating skilled employment opportunities for
young Saudis.
While Saudi Arabia has launched initiatives to ensure better
employment rates among its nationals, it is still relatively lacking in
competitiveness in the global arena, as the latest World Economic
Forum Report shows. Its Global Competitiveness Report, released in
September 2013, puts Saudi Arabia at 70th place, out of the 148
countries analysed, in terms of ‘Labour Market Efficiency’.
Under the Kingdom’s Saudisation programme, ‘Nitaqat’, job
opportunities being offered to nationals and companies operating in
the Kingdom are required to hire a certain number of Saudi employees,
according to their size. This programme was introduced in 2011, and
is gradually increasing the number of nationals employed in the
private sector.
British business has begun to embrace the huge range of opportunities
in Saudi Arabia. Besides the much discussed defence contracts,
British education companies have secured a US$1.67 billion deal to
establish a number of technical training colleges in the Kingdom.
Jaguar Land Rover’s planned establishment of a US$334 million
assembly line in Saudi Arabia also shows how British companies can
take advantage of the country’s huge potential as both an export market
and as a route into the wider Middle East.
13
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UK Trade & Investment
With a population of over 29 million, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is
the largest economy in the Arab world, and accounts for 25% of its
GDP. There are many opportunities across a wide range of sectors for
UK exporters and firms looking to invest in the Kingdom. There
continues to be strong demand for UK expertise in engineering design,
healthcare products and support, project management, financial
services and education and training.
Saudi Arabia has witnessed a period of relatively high growth and
economic progress over the past few years. This has been based on a
strong oil sector with record oil revenues. The Kingdom possesses
around 25% of the world's oil reserves, is the largest swing producer of
petroleum and plays a leading role in OPEC. The petroleum sector
accounts for roughly 80% of budget revenues, 45% of GDP and 90%
of export earnings.
Oil revenue has allowed the Kingdom to increase public spending on
infrastructure and welfare to match the increasing needs of a fast
growing population. In turn the non-oil private sector is feeding off this
upturn in public spending.
14

The Government's national budget for the 2014 fiscal year, was the
largest to date and dedicated 46% of total spending to education and
training, health and social development and infrastructure. It also
demonstrates that the Kingdom is dedicated to continuing stimulatory
spending to develop and diversify the economy and persuade private
investors to do the same.
Saudi Arabia has been designated a ‘High Growth Market’ by UK Trade
& Investment and our teams in Riyadh, Jeddah and Al Khobar have
identified a number of high value opportunities including:
• Railways development programme. Total value of projects is likely
to exceed US$23 billion. There are additional opportunities for light
rail systems in Jeddah, Mecca and Riyadh.
• Healthcare development. A US$100 billion spending programme
leading to large scale investment in infrastructure, workforce and
systems development.
• Water and wastewater upgrade. A US$50 billion programme,
comprising a number of projects being undertaken between 2012
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and 2017, including building 20 new desalination plants and six new
sewage treatment plants.
• Sadara Petrochemical project. A US$20 billion development
programme (joint venture between Dow Chemicals and Saudi
Aramco) which will establish a major petrochemical complex,
producing 1.3 million tonnes per year of ethylene and 400,000
tonnes per year of propylene when complete in 2015.
• Development of Saudi Airports. New terminals in Riyadh, Jeddah
and 33 other airport development projects all represent significant
opportunities for UK companies. The UK is seen as a prime source
of knowledge and support for this programme.
• Red Sea Natural Gas. Saudi Aramco plans to exploit natural gas
reserves this decade off the Red Sea Coast, to support increased
domestic demand, which will involve deep water technologies
(>1,000m). This programme will benefit engineering and service
companies which have accumulated experience in deep water
regions such as the North Sea. Saudi Aramco is confident of
implementing US$25 billion capital expenditure in the Red Sea.

implementation and include significant rail (tram, monorail, light rail
and metro) networks. The UK has established capability in the
planning and implementation of mass urban public transit systems.
Key opportunities exist in exports of consultancy, products
and services.

• Nuclear. Saudi Arabia will invest US$100 billion in 16 new reactors
over the next 20 years, presenting significant opportunities for
UK companies.

Saudi Arabia is a market which repays patience and persistence. Saudi
clients like to get to know you first, and are looking for evidence of long
term commitment as well as potential skills and technology transfer. A
regular presence in the Kingdom is an important element in developing
strong relationships.

• Public Transportation. Five major cities have developed public
transportation masterplans; all are at various stages of planning and

A key priority for the Saudi Government is to get more Saudis,
particularly women, into private sector employment and relying less on
155

gov.uk/ukti
Who are UKTI?

Based in the UK and want to expand?

We can:

UK Trade & Investment (UKTI) works with UKbased businesses to ensure their success in
international markets, and encourages the best
overseas companies to look to the UK as their
partner of choice.

Get in touch with your local International Trade
Advisor (ITA) for more information on which
markets could be of great interest to you. To
identify your local ITA, go to:
gov.uk/government/collections/uk-tradeand-investment-services-for-exporters

• Provide a validated list of companies best
suited for your product or service

UKTI offers expertise and contacts through our
extensive network of specialists in the UK, and
in British embassies, and other diplomatic
ofﬁces around the world.

Do you have an ofﬁce in the Middle East
or North Africa?

We support British companies with a range of
expert services tailored to your needs to
maximise your international success.

If you already have an ofﬁce within the MENA
region and would like to expand further, get in
touch with our UKTI Regional Hub on:
uktihub.dubai@fco.gov.uk for more information
and advice.

gov.uk/government/world/saudi-arabia

• Introduce your company to local contacts and
provide you with feedback
• Arrange meetings for you with local
companies interested to work with you
• Publicise your company, product or service
through our local press and trade publications
contact
• Host events, networking receptions or product
launches within prestigious British Embassy
Residences or grounds
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There are many opportunities across a wide range of
sectors for UK exporters and firms looking to invest in
the Kingdom.
imported labour. The Saudisation programme, developed to
implement this policy, is very much underway. Efforts are particularly
focused on employing the large youth population, with a high degree
of focus on providing the education and technical skills the private
sector needs. UK colleges and training providers are at the forefront of
providing expertise and support to the new vocational and technical
colleges in Saudi Arabia.

New companies entering the market can also benefit from assistance
from UK trade associations such as the Arab-British Chamber of
Commerce and the Middle East Association, as well as the British
Business Groups in Riyadh, Jeddah and Al Khobar. The Saudi-British
Joint Business Council is strengthening their remit in the UK and Saudi
Arabia through plans to increase their support to UK businesses
seeking market entry into the Kingdom.

There are already a large number of UK companies who have
established Saudi subsidiaries, some as 100% owned companies and
others as joint ventures with Saudi partners. Selecting the right partner
is crucial and our advice to UK companies is to take time in order to
choose the one best for your business. It is also possible to join with
a non-exclusive partner on a project specific or regional basis.

UKTI have specialised trade teams in the UK and Saudi Arabia to help
our UK companies access these and other opportunities. Please do
use our market introduction services which are accessible through
UKTI International Trade Advisors in the UK, as well as directly. We are
able to host company launches and events for you, and introduce your
company to potential clients and partners.
17
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The Saudi Committee
for International Trade: Strengthening ties
and creating opportunities
The United Kingdom and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia have enjoyed a
longstanding partnership based on a host of shared interests, a
cornerstone of which is the commercial relationship across both the
public and private sectors. Sustaining and expanding these business
ties is the focus of the Riyadh based Committee for International Trade
(CIT), a private sector initiative which was founded in 1983 within the
Council of Saudi Chambers (CSC). The Committee is made up of
leading business people who work to improve the Kingdom’s
worldwide trade relationships.
CIT aims to build strong and sustained trade relations by: engaging
with key institutions of civil society; creating an environment for
productive and positive dialogue on political, economic and cultural
matters critical to Saudi Arabia; promoting economic growth and
diversification domestically and abroad; and affirming Saudi Arabia’s
commitment to being a responsible and constructive member of
the global community. Through close coordination with key UK
18

Government and private sector agencies and business development
organisations, the Committee builds and nurtures bilateral trade ties.
Events are regularly organised and sponsored by CIT to enable
business leaders from both sides to create investments and
partnerships. The Committee mounts trade missions, business
opportunities forums, exchanges and outreach programmes that bring
Saudi business leaders to engage with international partners, as well
as hosting visiting delegations. CIT enjoys close relationships within
the key economic ministries and agencies in the Kingdom, enabling it
to host top level, high impact events that combine the tools and access
to getting business done in Saudi Arabia, along with access to the
officials who are making critical policy decisions.
Among regular CIT activities is its role in the vitally important
“Opportunity Arabia” series in UK, organised by the Middle East
Association (MEA) each autumn. This well attended one day
symposium, provides delegates the chance to talk to leading figures
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from the UK and Saudi trade promotion and business sectors; gain
insights and perspectives on trends and opportunities and the
chance to make important contacts through CIT to the Saudi Arabian
business community.
At events like ‘Opportunity Arabia’, business people are introduced to
the excellent opportunities for investment in the Kingdom; the largest
economy in the Middle East, well known for the rapid increases in
‘ease of doing business’, a bastion of stability, and the leading
destination in the region for British trade and investment. The pace of
modernisation and commercial expansion in Saudi Arabia offers a
seemingly limitless range of opportunities for UK businesses and CIT
is keen to be the springboard for launching and sustaining commercial
relationships in this dynamic environment.
British firms have a clear advantage in the Kingdom through the
experience of the many British ex-patriates who have lived and worked
there for decades and the natural networks that have grown among
Saudis educated in the UK and their British hosts.
There are a growing number of blue chip British companies working in
the Kingdom, in a wide range of business sectors, including law,
mining, railways, water and engineering, but opportunities in Saudi
Arabia are not confined to large scale enterprises. CIT recognises that
Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in Saudi Arabia and in the UK
are driving a significant portion of their respective economies. CIT
works to encourage business development at the SME end of the
business spectrum as well.

British Parliamentary delegation, February 2014

Indeed, Saudi Arabia’s commercial expansion has been driven to a
great extent by the role of SMEs in the economy and CIT recognises
and emphasises their role in connecting business people with
opportunities. An example of CIT’s position in developing trade
relationships between Saudi Arabia and UK businesses was a British
Parliamentary delegation visit to Riyadh in February 2014, at the
Council of Saudi Chambers.
19
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A strong platform has been created on which to
further strengthen relationships between Saudi and
British businesses in the years to come.

20

During that visit, there were a number of areas where participants were
keen to develop stronger business relationships. The Saudi side
encouraged expanded British involvement in the many large scale
infrastructure projects underway in the Kingdom and to compete
aggressively with international rivals from countries such as the United
States, South Korea, Japan and China. The availability of the Saudi
Government’s online tendering system and the prospects for enhanced
coordination and cooperation through the Saudi-British Joint Business
Council (SBJBC) were among commercial tools discussed.

CIT recognises that Saudi Arabia’s global economic, financial and
commercial partnerships are also influenced by social and political
considerations. The ample and accurate flow of information combined
with ongoing and candid dialogue are intrinsic to building durable trade
and investment ties with the United Kingdom, as well as other nations.
Reflecting the importance of strong UK/Saudi relations, CIT sponsors
the Saudi British Relations Information Service (www.SaudiBrit.com),
an online venue and social media project that provides articles,
interviews, reference material and event information.

UK taxation as an investment obstacle was raised by the Saudi side,
which noted that some Saudis had closed their businesses in Britain due
to a lack of clarity in resident versus non-resident status. Participants
also talked about areas where cooperation could be increased: expanded
involvement with SMEs; trade missions focused on joint ventures; and
greater focus on the education and healthcare sectors.

CIT was established to be a business bridge builder, connecting Saudi
Arabia with international partners like its UK colleagues. Through the
many major business relationships that have already developed across
a broad spectrum of opportunities, a strong basis has been created on
which to further strengthen relationships between Saudi and British
businesses in the years to come.

FACILITATING ORGANISATIONS

Saudi-British Joint Business Council
The Saudi-British Joint Business Council is an independent and private
sector-led body, which aims to develop and enhance business
relations at all levels between Saudi Arabia and the United Kingdom.

The Council’s principal objectives are:
• To develop and enhance relations at all levels between the business
communities in both Kingdoms.

Through its British and Saudi members and its Secretariat in London
and Riyadh, it offers a range of advisory services, as well as access to
high level governmental and private sector networks in both Saudi
Arabia and the UK.

• To promote & facilitate private sector commerce & business activity
between Saudi Arabia and the UK.

The Saudi-British Joint Business Council (SBJBC) was established in
1999 through an agreement between the Committee for Middle East
Trade and the Council of Saudi Chambers. It is a private sector led
body which aims to strengthen business relations between the United
Kingdom and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
The UK Co-Chair is Rt Hon Baroness Symons of Vernham Dean, who
works alongside her Saudi counterpart, Sheikh Nasser Al-Mutawa
Alotaibi. The membership of the Council comprises senior British and
Saudi business representatives. The UK Secretariat of the Council
(SBJBC UK) is co-located within British Expertise in London, and
established as a company limited by guarantee (not for profit), whose
UK Executive Director is Chris Innes-Hopkins. The Council of Saudi
Chambers provides the Saudi Secretariat, whose Executive Director is
Abdul-Karim Al Yaquob.

• To communicate with the authorities in both Kingdoms with the aim
of improving business-to-business cooperation, as well as assisting
in the settling of commercial disputes.
• To facilitate training, technology & knowledge exchange between the
two countries.
• To promote business and partnership opportunities, particularly for
Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs).
The Council meets formally at least twice a year in addition to informal
meetings. It has recently established a number of joint working groups
in key sectors including Education & Training, Healthcare, Public
Private Partnerships (PPP), SMEs and Offset, The Council works
closely with both governments, as well as other trade associations in
pursuit of its objectives, and is a partner in UK Trade & Investment’s
“Strengthening Overseas Business Networks Initiative”.
Contact us at: c/o British Expertise | 10 Grosvenor Gardens | London
SW1W 0DH | tel: +44 (0) 20 7824 1933 | email: director@sbjbc.org
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An overview of
Saudi Arabia Business Law
Grahame Nelson, Head of Office, Riyadh, Al Tamimi & Co.
Why do business in Saudi Arabia?
Saudi Arabia has a globally important economy and is
far and away the biggest economy in the Middle East.
By GDP, the Saudi Arabian economy is almost the same
size as all other countries in the GCC put together.
The Saudi economy is oil based and revenue from oil
dominates export earnings and Government revenue.
Saudi Arabia is the world's largest oil exporter.
Grahame Nelson

However, over recent years the Government has
introduced a number of measures aimed at reducing
the country's reliance on oil revenue, including limited
deregulation, the encouragement of foreign investment,
and privatisation in selected areas of the economy.
With a view to encouraging foreign investment, Saudi
Arabia joined the WTO in 2005. Amongst other things
this committed Saudi Arabia to liberalisation of its
economy and the creation of a more transparent
investment and trading system in accordance with
WTO requirements.
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Establishing a business presence in Saudi Arabia
Foreign Investment Law
The Foreign Investment Law, issued in 2000, is the
centrepiece of the Saudi Arabian Government’s foreign
investment regulatory regime and requires all foreign
investment in Saudi Arabia to be licenced. The Law
allows 100% foreign ownership of business entities
subject to certain exceptions.
SAGIA
The Foreign Investment Law provided for the
establishment of the Saudi Arabian General Investment
Authority, commonly referred to as “SAGIA”.
Foreign businesses wishing to establish commercial
operations in Saudi Arabia must obtain a foreign
investment licence. In addition, SAGIA:
• Processes,
Foreign
Investment
Licence
applications, project assessments, requests for
visas and labour and residence permits.
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• Provides support services to foreign investors.
• Supplies information related to industrial projects.
• Identifies specific business opportunities and seeks to match them
to investors.
• Supervises the Economic Cities being developed in Saudi Arabia,
facilitates investment in the Economic Cities and assists investors to
obtain the requisite licences to establish business operations.
Foreign Investment Licences
No foreign investment can occur without a foreign investment licence
having previously been issued for the project. Amongst other things,
this means that approvals for the establishment of a business vehicle
in Saudi Arabia will not be given until a Foreign Investment Licence
has been issued.
Serious penalties (which may include criminal penalties as well as
heavy fines) can result if activities are undertaken in contravention of
this requirement. Breaches will also put in peril any future investment.
A number of activities are closed to foreign investment. This is the socalled “Negative List” and relates to business activities in the industrial
and services sector.
Types of Business Enterprise
For those foreign businesses wanting to carry on a business activity in
Saudi Arabia, two key requirements must be met.
Firstly, the business activity must have a legal presence in Saudi Arabia.
Secondly, the carrying on of the business activity must be authorised
by a Foreign Investment Licence, which authorises that activity to
be conducted.

Depending on the circumstances, one or more types of business
structure may work for the foreign investor. However, ultimately the
choice of structure will depend upon a matrix of commercial
considerations. They include whether the investor wants to go it alone,
or wants or needs a Saudi Arabian partner.
The choices available to the foreign investor are as follows:
• Temporary commercial registration
• Branch office
• Limited Liability Company (LLC)
• Joint Stock Company (JSC) (open or closed)
• Technical scientific services office
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Doing Business in Saudi Arabia?
So are we...
Since establishing in Saudi Arabia in 2008, Al Tamimi & Company has
worked with leading public and private sector organisations as their
legal partner in doing business in the Kingdom.
We have an excellent understanding of the business environment which
legal and regulatory system in the Kingdom means that our full service
offering has become a natural choice for companies locally, in the
region and from around the globe when searching for legal advisors.

Saudi, Arabic and western lawyers integrated with and supported by

I

8 Countries

I

290 Lawyers
www.tamimi.com

T: +966 1 416 9666

I F: +966 1 416 9555

I infoksa@tamimi.com
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Commercial agencies allow goods produced by the
foreign business to be sold in Saudi Arabia without
having a legal presence in the country.
Gaining access to the Saudi Arabian market without having a legal
presence in the country
A foreign business wanting to gain access to the Saudi market may do
so without having a legal presence, provided the foreign business is
not carrying on business in Saudi Arabia.
Sales to end users
The foreign business does not require a legal presence in Saudi Arabia,
where goods are being sold to the end user in Saudi Arabia.
Commercial agencies, distributorships and franchises
A foreign business doesn’t need a legal presence in Saudi Arabia
where the goods are imported for sale or resale through distributorship,
commercial agency and franchise arrangements.

There are also certain types of businesses which require the
involvement of a commercial agent, for example, the import and sale
of pharmaceuticals and healthcare products.
The drawbacks are those which are typically associated with
arrangements, which depend in large measure upon the performance
of another party - quality control, market coverage and payment to
name but some of them. They are also notoriously difficult to unwind
unless this happens with the cooperation of the Saudi party.
The Commercial Agency Law, regulates most kinds of commercial
agency, distributorship and franchise arrangements, commonly
referred to as “commercial agencies”.

Nor does the foreign business need a Foreign Investment Licence to
enter into such arrangements.

Only Saudi nationals or companies organised under Saudi law
and wholly owned and managed by Saudi nationals can be
commercial agents.

Commercial agencies allow goods produced by the foreign business to
be sold in Saudi Arabia without having a legal presence in the country.
They are often the quickest and cheapest way for a foreign business to
enter the Saudi market.

The Commercial Agency Law does not require a Saudi Arabian
commercial agency to be exclusive in relation to the products or
territory. Exclusive rights may provide an extra incentive to the
commercial agent and this could be important with a product which is
25
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new to the market or where marketing and perhaps capital investment
by the commercial agent are expected to feature strongly.
The commercial agent does not have a statutory right to compensation
upon the non-renewal or termination of its commercial agency, though
this may be no deterrent to such claims being made.
The Legal System
Shari’ah
Saudi Arabia is an Islamic State and the Shari’ah is the foundation of
all laws.
The Shari'ah is a collection of principles derived from different sources,
but principally the Holy Qur’an and the Sunnah (the witnessed sayings
and actions of the Prophet Muhammad, peace be upon him).
The Shari’ah is supplemented by Royal Orders, High Orders, Royal
Decrees, Council of Ministers Resolutions, Ministerial Resolutions and
Circulars, all of which are subject to, and may not conflict with the
Shari'ah. Saudi courts interpret legislation accordingly.
Saudi Arabia also has a written Constitution.

The Law of the Judiciary provides for appeals from First Instance
Courts to Courts of Appeal (known as Courts of Cassation) and
from there to the Supreme Judicial Council which is the highest
judicial authority.
The Board of Grievances was originally created to hear complaints
against the Government, but it now has jurisdiction to deal with
commercial and some criminal cases such as bribery and corruption.
The Saudi Courts do not apply a strict case management system,
which prescribes milestones and milestone dates for the case, which
the parties are required to adhere too.
If (and it is not guaranteed) legal costs are awarded by the court to the
successful party, these costs can be reckoned to be nominal.
In 2007, H.H. King Abdullah issued Royal Decrees with the aim of
reforming the legal system. Some of the changes foreshadowed by the
reforms have already been implemented.
Once the reforms have been fully implemented, they will be organised
hierarchically and expressed diagrammatically as follows.

The Law of the Judiciary states that judges are to be protected from any
act which might compromise their independence and are not subject
to removal from office (save as stated in the Law).

Supreme Court

Appellate Courts

The Law of the Judiciary acknowledges the doctrine of the separation
of powers, stressing the authority of judges to make decisions
independently of the executive branch.
The Court System
There are two types of Trial Courts (commonly referred to as Courts of
First Instance): Summary Courts and General Courts.
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Courts of First Instance

General Courts

Criminal Courts

Family Courts

Commercial Courts

Labour Courts
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Procedure in a typical Commercial Claim in the Saudi Courts
The legal proceedings are commenced by a claim being filed with the
registry of the relevant court. Usually, this will be the Board of
Grievances. The claim will often be a fairly succinct document running
to no more than two to three pages.

Other Dispute resolution agencies
A number of committees having judicial powers exist, for the
resolution of disputes in specialist areas.

Judgments are delivered in open court.

The most important of them include:
• The Banking Dispute Resolution Committee.
• The Labour Dispute Resolution Committee.
• The Securities Dispute Resolution Committee.
• The Insurance Dispute Resolution Committee.

Judgments may be appealed against within 30 days. Appeals are heard
by the Appeal Court.

These committees can issue decisions and judgments in relation to
disputes within the limits of their jurisdiction.

Arbitration
Arbitration is not permitted where one of the parties is a Saudi
Government entity, unless permitted by the Council of Ministers.

Enforcing judgments and arbitration awards
In 2012, a new “Execution Law” was issued. This sets out procedures
for the enforcement of judgments and arbitration awards in Saudi
Arabia.

Unlike many legal systems, there is no time limit for making
legal claims.

Saudi Arabia’s Arbitration Law
Saudi Arabia issued a new Arbitration Law in 2012. This sets out
requirements in relation to the Arbitration Agreement including the
appointment of arbitrators.
Arbitration proceedings can:
• Proceed in accordance with the rules of internationally recognised
arbitration forums;
• Be conducted in a language other than Arabic.
Once the Arbitration Award is final, there is only limited scope to
challenge it. Also, the decision to challenge it does not of itself
preclude the enforcement of the award. For that to happen, the party
challenging the award must obtain a decision of the Court directing
that enforcement will not occur until the review of the award has
occurred and a final judgment has issued.

The Execution Law requires an “Execution Judge” to be put in charge
of enforcing any judicial resolution issued by the courts, judicial
authorities and arbitration tribunals.
The Execution Judge will also deal with the enforcement of judgments
and arbitration awards issued outside Saudi Arabia.
As the largest law firm in the Middle East, Al Tamimi & Company have
prepared this article from a lawyer’s perspective. However, we have
done so with a view to providing practical insights drawing heavily on
our experience gained over more than eight years helping foreign
investors to get established in Saudi Arabia and turning that investment
into commercial success.
We look forward to working with you in the largest economy in the
Middle East.
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AEI - YOUR DOORWAY TO THE KINGDOM
Saudi is a country of unrivalled opportunity. Statistics show rapid growth, budget surpluses
and spending increases; a dramatic contrast to most other markets. Despite this, there is
a perception that to pursue, win and deliver business in Saudi is ‘just too difficult’.
AEI provide independent advice, support services and infrastructure to disprove this
myth - our mission is to allow you to compete and win in the Kingdom.

DECIDE……
AEI support your Saudi decision making process with accurate, high quality market
intelligence from experienced professionals based in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
DEPLOY……
AEI reduce the cost and accelerate your deployment to Saudi. From our Enterprise
Incubator or Executive Residency facilities to our Virtual Office and life support services,
we provide you with an instant, low cost and low risk footprint
DELIVER……
AEI help you find the right in-Kingdom support including proven supply chain capability
and credible Saudi partners. We help you develop smart and sensible commercial
frameworks and delivery approaches tailored for Saudi Arabia. We help you deliver the
contracts you have won

Tel: +966 557984007

|

Email: info@aeisaudi.com

|

www.aeisaudi.com
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Stock Exchange reform opens the
door to direct international investment
in the Saudi economy
Opening up its financial services sector to greater international
participation is a key part of the Saudi Arabian Government’s strategy
of diversifying its economy and gradually reducing its reliance on the
energy sector. The most significant step in this process over recent
months was the announcement in July 2014 that its stock market
would allow direct foreign ownership of shares from early 2015.
Saudi Arabia’s Stock Exchange, the Tadawul, is already the largest
market in the Gulf region and its opening up to foreign participation, is
part of a number of reforms that are also expected to see the
development of a derivatives market and the start of a futures market
for a wider range of commodities than simply oil. The Tadawul is also
set to move into the new King Abdullah Financial District in Riyadh,
home to major banks and other financial service providers.
This move by the Capital Markets Authority, which supervises the
Tadawul, had been anticipated for many years, but had been delayed

amid concerns that foreign ownership of companies that have
benefitted from the huge scale of public spending supported by
petrochemical revenues, would mean overseas investors benefitting at
the expense of Saudi retail investors, who currently dominate
participation in the stock exchange.
The market value of companies currently listed on the Tadawul is
already more than US$500 billion and its 120+ listed companies
includes a diverse cross section of the major companies operating in
the Kingdom, including Saudi Basic Industries (SABIC), the world’s
largest petrochemicals producer, Saudi Aramco, Saudi Arabian Mining
Company (Ma’aden), banks including Samba and Saudi-Fransi Bank
and the telecoms group Mobily.
By attracting many billions of dollars’ worth of international
investment, the Saudi stock market is likely to become a major
constituent of the MSCI emerging markets index, which is followed by
29
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tracker funds around the world. Analysts suggest that Saudi Arabia
would account for around 4% of the MSCI index, a similar size to the
Russian market and that it is second only to China in currently being
excluded from the index, due to its restriction on foreign participation.
The Tadawul has risen by almost 50% over the past two years and
with the success of markets in the United Arab Emirates and Qatar
in attracting international investment, there seems little doubt that
Saudi Arabia will quickly emerge as a rival to Russia in attracting
international capital.
Besides its thriving stock market, whose Tadawul All-Share Index
(TASI) was one of the first exchanges in the world to set up a fully
electronic clearing and settlement system, the Kingdom also boasts a
stable and modern banking sector, which managed to avoid much of
the turmoil of the global financial crisis. It comprises 13 commercial
banks, providing retail and corporate banking, investment services,
brokerage facilities, and derivative transactions in addition to credit
cards, ATMs and point-of-sale transactions.
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There are also banks in the Kingdom that provide Islamic banking
services, a system consistent with the principles of Islamic law
(Shari’ah), which prohibits usury, the collection and payment of
interest and trading in financial risk. Among these is the oldest and
largest of the Kingdom’s banks, by total assets, National Commercial
Bank (NCB). It was founded in 1953, and in 1999 the Saudi
Government acquired a majority holding through the Ministry of
Finance's Public Investment Fund (PIF).
Another of the largest banks is SABB, currently ranked number five in
terms of total assets, which was formed in 1978 and is 40% owned
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Opening up its financial services sector to greater
international participation is a key part of the Saudi
Arabian Government’s strategy.
by HSBC, and so gives customers access to both its domestic
branch network as well as the resources and expertise of the HSBC
network worldwide.

(SAAB), the Real Estate Development Fund, the Public Investment
Fund (PIF) and the Saudi Credit Bank.

At the heart of the financial services sector is the central bank and
regulator of the sector, the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA).
It was established in 1952 at a time of monetary chaos, becoming
one of the most respected central banks in the Middle East and
overseeing the introduction of a first national currency, the Riyal in
1961, and now having responsibility for supervising commercial
banks, managing foreign exchange reserves, and ensuring the
stability of the financial system.

In a sign of the Saudi Government’s impatience at the pace of
economic diversification, new authority was granted in July 2014 to
the PIF, giving the Fund’s Board of Directors the authority to set up
companies without cabinet approval, a move aimed at making it more
efficient and boosting important sectors of the national economy.
Since its founding in 1971, the PIF has played a leading role in the
development of the economy and has financed a number of “megaprojects” in the Kingdom, both on behalf of the State and in
partnership with the private sector.

The Saudi Government has also established five specialised credit
institutions to provide loans to citizens for development projects in
agriculture, industry and construction – the Saudi Industrial
Development Fund (SIDF), the Saudi Arabian Agricultural Bank

“With the new decree, the Fund will be able to act with more flexibility,
which will help it implement its new investment initiatives more
effectively”, said Finance Minister, Ibrahim Al-Assaf, in an interview
with Asharq Al-Awsat. He said seeking cabinet approval for every
31
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decision by the Public Investment Fund had proven to be too
cumbersome, adding that the PIF had recently launched new ventures
in the petrochemical and ICT sectors, in addition to other ventures
aimed at strengthening the national economy.
According to PIF Secretary General, Abdul Rahman Al-Mufdhi, the Fund
is poised to begin focusing investment in three fundamental sectors:
housing finance, renewable energy and ICT. In addition to these three
priority sectors, it would continue to support individual initiatives in
telecoms, aerospace, energy, green technologies and security, in
partnership with firms at the King Abdulaziz City for Science &
Technology, the Kingdom’s universities and research centres.
In March 2014, the Saudi Arabian Company for Industrial Investment
was set up and was approved by the Saudi Council of Ministers
with capital of US$533 million. It is a joint venture between the PIF,
Saudi Aramco and SABIC, three of the most important economic
institutions in the Kingdom, with ambitions to expand significantly in
strategic sectors of the economy, particularly the petrochemical and
oil industries.
House building is a sector of the economy forecast to grow
substantially and which was given a major boost in March 2013 with
approval of a mortgage banking law, paving the way for the provision
of finance for house buyers. The mortgage law provides, among other
things, a procedure for banks and others to become licenced to provide
mortgage finance, with a maximum loan-to-value ratio of 70%.
Within the insurance sector of the financial services industry,
Saudi Arabia is unique in requiring all companies to operate
according to the principles of cooperative insurance (Takaful). They
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therefore form the largest single Shari'ah compliant sector in the
world, and account for about 50% of all Shari'ah compliant premiums
written globally. The latest trends in the insurance sector suggest
that, in the short term, growth of Takaful worldwide may be slower
than analysts had been anticipating.
In its latest review of the Saudi insurance sector, Business Monitor
International (BMI) noted that underwriting results recorded in 2013
were constraining growth of Saudi Arabia's fragmented non-life
segment of the insurance market, which accounts for nearly all of the
activity. Within the important health insurance sector, growth is
expected to be driven by moves to extend the scope of compulsory
health insurance.
Recent underwriting results have implications for the global Takaful
industry because Saudi Arabia's cooperative insurers collectively
account for about 50% of all Shari’ah compliant contributions
worldwide. Looking ahead, the BMI review anticipates significant
consolidation within the fragmented competitive landscape. At the
same time, it forecasts development of the life insurance sector, which
remains underdeveloped, partly due to the shortage of financial
advisers able to help expatriates with planning their long term savings.
“Results from Saudi Arabia's listed insurance companies highlight the
weaknesses rather than the (undoubted) strengths of the sector” says
BMI. “Growth in gross premiums has been rapid for some, but
profitable for few”, it notes, pointing out that actuarial reviews ordered
by the sector’s regulatory body, the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority
(SAMA) had found that while many companies had boosted premiums
by increasing rates, these rises were not sufficient to cover the risks
being underwritten.
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Insurance Market in Saudi Arabia
Adrian Flowers - CEO, SABB Takaful

CASE STUDY: SABB TAKAFUL

SABB Takaful is a leading and trusted Islamic Insurance
provider in Saudi Arabia, operating according to
principles of Shari’ah, ensuring that all SABB Takaful
products are reviewed and approved by SABB’s
Shari’ah Committee, before being made available to the
customers. Adrian Flowers, CEO of SABB Takaful,
discusses the insurance market in Saudi Arabia.
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Adrian Flowers

1) How would you describe the growth of the
Protection & Savings (P&S) business in Saudi
Arabia to date?
It’s been solid – accounting for around 4% of Gross
Written Premiums (GWP) in 2012 - and we see great
potential in the long term. This is still a young market
and more education of the market is needed by the
industry before it really starts to take off.

2) What are the growth drivers for the expansion of
life insurance in the Kingdom?
I think the growth will come from the dynamic
demographics of Saudi Arabia. The population is
expected to grow at a Compound Annual Growth Rate
(CAGR) of 2.1% between 2011 and 2015, which is
almost twice the global average of 1.2%. Once they
enter the labour market, this young population will
significantly increase the demand for insurance, and
when they start to have families they will also start to
think more on how they protect their wealth and
educate their children etc.
Regulatory changes are also likely to be drivers of
growth, as we saw when the Saudi Arabian Monetary
Authority (SAMA) announced mandatory health
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insurance in 2006, which led to an increase in value (CAGR) of health
insurance premiums of 31% per year between 2006 and 2012. SAMA
will continue to have significant influence over the future of Life
Insurance (Family Takaful) in Saudi Arabia.
3) Could you comment on the recent introduction of the mortgage
law in the Kingdom? How much positive benefit from this do you
foresee for the Life Insurance sector and what are you doing to
prepare for it?
Generally speaking, we see it as a positive move because I think it will
expand the market and therefore people will need to protect those
assets, which will present opportunities for the insurance industry. This
is also an opportunity in terms of providing portfolio insurance for the
companies that are providing mortgages to the sector. We are
particularly well positioned because we already deal with the most
significant mortgage providers and finance company providers in
Saudi Arabia. I think it’s going to take time for it to really start to take
off though and is not something that is going to happen overnight. We
are still waiting for the SAMA regulations to be clear about how the
market is going to operate.
4) Could you explain the distribution dynamics for life insurance
business in the Kingdom and how it is developing? Do you see a
need to further enhance distribution?
We distribute through an agency in SABB branches, which means we
can tailor a financial package to suit all the wealth management needs

of the client. By working with a trusted partner in SABB Bank, we can
promote first class customer service through the branches and directly
with customers.
To further enhance the distribution, I think continued education and
training of staff is improving the professionalism of the sales people so
they feel confident in discussing the products and in dealing with
customers’ questions. It is vital that the industry has professional
people who are well trained in dealing with a client’s Takaful needs,
and in putting the customer first.
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It is vital that the industry has professional people who
are well trained in dealing with a client’s Takaful
needs, and in putting the customer first.
5) Do you see a need for specific regulations that would allow life
insurance to thrive in the Kingdom?

7) What do you see as the biggest operational challenge affecting
Saudi Arabia at the moment?

I think the Regulations are already pretty much there and I don’t see the
need for any more direct regulation right now. The products are
available and I think the Regulators can assist the market by promoting
insurance and the benefits of it to both public and corporate entities.
This would be helpful to the industry and to the population of Saudi
Arabia. The insurance industry also needs to promote itself in a
cohesive way.

Distribution is the biggest operational challenge for the reasons
mentioned above in terms of having the skill set to build, to develop
and to sell insurance products. Market awareness on the retail side,
for life and protection based products, also needs to be raised. We are
very excited about the future prospects for growth of insurance in
Saudi Arabia.

6) What do you see as your main growth drivers in the next 12 to
24 months?
We are focusing on Life, Marine, Property and Employee Benefits, such
as Group Life business. This is where we believe we can add most
value to customers. We see them as being the main growth drivers,
because they are adding significant value to a sector within the market,
but maybe underserved at this time.

8) What do you think would be the best solution to address those
industry challenges?
We need continued positive dialogue with the Industry and the
Regulator to improve insurance awareness and skills in the Saudi
Arabian market. At the same time, we must listen to what customers
want and need, and provide value added products that address these
needs. We must also develop digital solutions, so that customers can
reach us in any way they wish.
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New refinery capacity and development of
downstream petrochemicals industries creates
opportunities for international business
Major investment in new refining capacity is taking place at a number
of locations in Saudi Arabia, as the Kingdom seeks to consolidate its
enviable position as the world’s largest oil producer, with its proven
reserves of more than 260 billion barrels representing a quarter of the
world’s known oil reserves.
Three new refineries, each able to process 400,000 bpd of mainly
heavy crude, could consume 10% of the Kingdom’s current officially
declared production capacity of 12.5 million bpd when they are all fully
operational in 2017.
They will complement the country’s nine existing refining complexes,
which produce gasoline, fuel and diesel oil, liquefied petroleum gas
(LPG), jet fuel, kerosene and other petroleum products, for the
domestic market and for export. The trio is among the most
technologically advanced in the world, and have a combined output of
eight million bpd of petroleum products, principally for export.
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on the Gulf coast near the industrial port city of Jubail. The major
output of the refinery is supplied to Dhahran bulk plant for domestic
use, while the remaining is exported.
The largest of the trio of new refineries is known as the Saudi Aramco
Total Refining and Petrochemical Company (SATORP) refinery, at
Jubail on the Gulf coast, the result of a US$10 billion joint venture
between Total and Saudi Aramco. This new facility, due to be fully on
stream by late 2014, will process heavy crude oil to supply markets in
Asia and the Middle East.
While petroleum product consumption in Europe is declining, demand
is growing rapidly in Asian markets. The SATORP refinery is
strategically located close to oilfields and to the city of Jubail’s
infrastructure, which includes an industrial port and power and water
supply systems.

Despite efforts to diversify the economy, Saudi Arabia remains heavily
dependent on its oil wealth, with oil representing 90% of the country's
exports and almost 75% of Government revenues. The oil industry
produces about 45% of GDP, compared to 40% from the private sector.

To safely refine this crude oil with a high sulphur content and a large
proportion of heavy residues into products that meet market
requirements, the new refinery is equipped with a range of
technologies that converts the crude into a wide variety of products,
including very light hydrocarbons such as propylene and LPG.

Among the country’s current refinery portfolio is Ras Tanura, which is
the ninth largest oil refinery in the world, with a crude distillation
capacity of 550,000 bpd. It is operated by Saudi Aramco and is located

The rationale for SATORP’s location can be seen in its proximity to the
largest new oilfield currently being developed in Manifa, which was
expected to reach full production capacity of 900,000 bpd of heavy
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crude during 2014. Most of Manifa’s output during this period is likely
to be consumed by the new SATORP refinery, although raising output
from Manifa, beyond the Jubail facility’s maximum processing
capacity, could make more Arabian heavy crude available for export.
The expected start up in late 2014, of another of the new refineries,
Saudi Aramco’s Yasref refinery, which is being built on the Red Sea
coast with China’s Sinopec, is expected to use up most of what is left
of Manifa’s output from 2015, with the heavy and medium-crude Jizan
refinery on the Red Sea set to absorb 400,000 bpd of more Saudi crude
from 2017.
Opening of the new refineries means exports of Saudi Arabian crude oil
are set to decline over the next five years. That could be cause for
concern, given the Kingdom’s longstanding role in adjusting its output
to help stabilise the international oil price, although increased supplies
from the US and Iraq are expected to make up any shortfall.
The three new refineries will continue to generate major exports of
petroleum as diesel and gasoline, offsetting any loss of Saudi impact
in crude oil markets. Fereidun Fesharaki, Chairman of Facts Global
Energy (FGE), said the new refineries would result in lower exports of
Arab Heavy crude, one of the Saudi grades, pushing up its prices.
“Despite growing demand at home, most of the products will go to

exports and have a regional impact on product markets and the flow of
products globally,” Fesharaki said in a FGE report on global refining.
Oil production in Saudi Arabia goes back more than 80 years to the
granting of prospecting rights in 1933, to Standard Oil of California.
Five years later, Socal discovered large quantities of oil in the
Dammam Dome near the Arabian Gulf. In the late 1940s, Socal entered
into a consortium with other American oil companies and was renamed
the Arabian American Oil Company (Aramco). By the 1970s, Saudi
Arabia had become the top producer and exporter of oil in the world.
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Saudi Aramco’s average daily crude production in
2013, was 9.4 million bpd, with total oil production
for the year of 3.4 billion barrels.
The Saudi oil industry entered a new era in 1980, when the
Government assumed full ownership of Aramco, renaming it Saudi
Aramco in 1988. The company began exploring in areas that had
previously been untouched, and discovered vast deposits of high grade
crude oil. Saudi Arabia continues to find new fields, such as one
discovered 280km southeast of Riyadh on 20 April 2005.
Saudi Arabia’s national oil & gas company is widely viewed as the
most valuable company in the world, with an estimated value of US$10
trillion and generates over US$1 billion every day in revenues. Saudi
Aramco can boast a number of firsts, including the world’s largest
crude oil reserves, the largest daily production of oil, the world’s
largest hydrocarbon network, and ownership of the Ghawar field, the
world’s largest oilfield.
Saudi Aramco’s average daily crude production in 2013, was 9.4
million bpd, with total oil production for the year of 3.4 billion barrels,
being about 12% of the world’s crude oil production.
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Together with its subsidiaries, the company owns or has equity interest
in domestic and international refineries with a total worldwide refining
capacity of 4.9 million bpd, of which its equity share is 2.6 million
bpd, making Saudi Aramco the world’s sixth largest refiner. In 2013,
the company exported 2.5 billion barrels of crude oil and produced
494 million barrels of refined products, of which 121 million barrels
were exported, with 53.8% of that total exported to Asia.
Besides its domestic refineries, Saudi Arabia also has interests in
downstream operations in a number of other countries, including
South Korea, the Philippines, Greece, India, and China. Motiva, a joint
venture between Shell Oil Company and Saudi Refining Inc., refines,
distributes, and markets oil products in the United States.
Although the country boasts in excess of 100 oilfields, more than 50%
of Saudi Arabia’s oil reserves are contained in just eight fields,
including the giant Ghawar field, with estimated remaining reserves of
70 billion barrels, meaning it contains more proven oil reserves than
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all but seven other countries in the world. The Kingdom also has the
world's fifth largest natural gas reserves, although natural gas
production remains limited.
Following construction of the three new export orientated refineries, at
a total cost of US$18 billion and through partnerships between Saudi
Aramco and foreign companies, Saudi Arabia is keen to attract further
overseas investment in oil related services. Unlike many refineries
elsewhere in the world, these new facilities will offer large scale
capacity to process local heavy and sour crude. New technologies will
significantly reduce their environmental impact, compared to older
facilities elsewhere in the world.
The outlook for crude oil refining is good. The global demand for
refined petroleum products is expected to remain very strong, driven by
rapid and resilient growth in emerging markets. Meanwhile, tight
capacity worldwide has elevated utilisation rates and pushed margins
to historic highs. Refinery utilisation rates are high, demand is
currently at 93 million bpd but set to double by 2030.
By owning the world’s largest proven oil reserves, as well as an
expending refinery infrastructure, Saudi Arabia offers international
investors in the petrochemicals sector competitively priced feedstock

and unparalleled long term supply security. At the same time, its
strategic location between Asia, Europe and North America is a
significant logistical competitive advantage as it offers low cost access
across a diverse portfolio of markets.
Saudi crude oil for export, is shipped on supertankers to refineries
around the world from three principal ports. Ras Tanura is the world's
largest offshore oil loading facility, with a capacity of six million bpd.
The Ras al-Ju'aymah facility, on the coast of the Persian Gulf, loads
nearly 75% of the exports, while the third major terminal, Yanbu, is on
the Red Sea.
Petrochemicals is one of a number of industry sectors targeted by the
Saudi Government to attract foreign investment. In recognising this
opportunity for British business, UKTI highlights two projects in
particular that represent real and immediate opportunities. These are the
Sadara Petrochemical project, a US$20 billion joint venture between
Dow Chemicals and Saudi Aramco, where there are opportunities in
engineering and procurement, and Saudi Aramco’s planned US$25
billion investment in Red Sea natural gas production over the coming
decade, where there are opportunities for UK engineering and service
companies with experience in deep water regions.
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Rapid increase in electricity consumption
driving major investment and
development of renewable power sources
Huge investment in renewable energy is a cornerstone of plans by the
Saudi Arabian Government to meet the growing requirement for energy,
which is being driven by steady population growth, robust economic
growth and increased industrial production.

The housing sector consumes about 50% of the electricity supply,
followed by industries, who consume 21%, the trade sector 15% and
Government facilities, 12%. The Government provides subsidised fuel
worth US$40 billion to the Saudi Electricity Co. for power generation.

Saudi Electricity use has risen by more than 50% over the past decade,
from 114.9 billion kWh in 2002 to 174.5 billion kWh in 2012,
according to the CIA World Factbook. Saudis consume three times
more electricity than the world average, said Osama Fahd Al-Bunyan,
Chief Operating Officer of the Zamil Industrial Investment Company in
an interview with Arab News. “The per capita electricity consumption
of Saudis is increasing year after year”, he added.

Saudi Arabia is a signatory to the UN Framework Convention on Climate
Change, and recognises the need for an increasing commitment to
environmental responsibility. Despite its vast hydrocarbon reserves,
diversification into renewables will help achieve energy security and
allow continued large scale export of oil & gas that would otherwise be
used to meet domestic demand at heavily subsidised prices.

He said Saudi Arabia required investments worth US$133 billion to
meet growing electricity requirements in the next ten years. “The
housing sector is a major consumer of electricity and 70% of buildings
in the Kingdom are not insulated”. Electricity consumption grew by 9%
in 2012, compared with the previous year, Al-Bunyan said.
Figures issued by the Ministry of Water and Electricity, indicate that
power consumption in the Kingdom is expected to reach 90,000MW
within ten years.

The Kingdom aims to become the world’s leading market for renewable
energy, with budgeted investment of US$109 billion, that encompasses
major new solar and nuclear generating capacity, as well as geothermal,
wind and energy from waste projects. The aim is to be generating a third
of total energy needs from renewable sources by 2032.
Behind this ambitious programme is the King Abdullah City for Atomic
and Renewable Energy (KACARE), which was set up in 2010 to
become, in its own words, “the driving force for making atomic and
renewable energy an integral part of a national sustainable energy mix,
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creating and leveraging the competitive advantages of relevant
technologies for the social and economic development of the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia”.
Part of this huge growth in consumption was the burning of crude oil
for power generation and the use of natural gas liquids for
petrochemical production. Khalid Al-Faleh, head of Saudi Aramco,
warned that domestic liquids demand was on course to exceed eight
million bpd (oil equivalent) by 2030, if there were no improvements in
energy efficiency and current trends continued.
In 2011, His Excellency Dr Abdullah Al Shehri, Governor of the
Electricity and Co-Generation Regulatory Authority (ECRA), stated that
peak-time electricity demand would treble in 20 years to 120,000MW
by 2032 from 46,000MW in 2010. Around half the Kingdom's current
power generating capacity uses liquid fuel including distillates, crude
oil and heavy fuel oil.
Developing new and cleaner energy technologies is an area of focus for
the Kingdom’s state oil producer, Saudi Aramco, which is focusing its
efforts on the potential for solar powers. In a vast country with more
than 250 hours of sunshine each month, empty stretches of desert
make ideal locations for huge solar structures, while vast deposits of
clear sand can be used to manufacture silicon photovoltaic cells.
Saudi Arabia is ideally suited to the development of solar energy and
Saudi Aramco has forecast that the cost of solar production will halve
to US$0.10 per kWh in the period 2010-20 in the Gulf Cooperation
Council (GCC), making it cheaper than diesel-fired generation and
placing it on a par with gas.
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The potential for solar generation is huge - in a speech at Krakow,
Poland in 2011, Oil Minister His Excellency Ali Al-Naimi said that
Saudi Arabia planned to generate solar electricity equalling the amount
of its energy from crude exports, and had the potential by 2020, to
produce enough solar power to meet more than four times global
demand for electricity.
Saudi Aramco is spearheading a number of solar power projects. In
collaboration with the Saudi Electricity Company and Solar Frontier, its
equity partner with Showa Shell of Japan, a 500kW solar farm has been
installed on Farasan Island in the Red Sea. Estimates suggest that the
plant will save the transfer of an equivalent of 28,000 barrels of diesel
to the Island.
As part of the joint venture with Showa Shell, production of solar cells
is set to begin. Showa Shell specialises in solar cells made using
copper, indium and selenium and by introducing this technology into
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Huge investment in renewable energy is a cornerstone
of plans by the Saudi Arabian Government to meet the
growing requirement for energy.
Saudi Arabia, the oil giant will be making a significant contribution to
the Kingdom’s goal of industrial diversification.
At the same time, the company is making use of solar power at its own
sites, for example in the new Al-Midra Complex at Dhahran, where
solar panels that double as sunshades over its 4,500 parking spaces.
Covering an area of 198,350m2 and using over 126,000 solar panels,
it stands as the world’s biggest car-park shade and generates 10MW
of energy for the Al-Midra Complex. Elsewhere, the King Abdullah
Petroleum Studies and Research Centre, built by Saudi Aramco, will
feature solar panels capable of generating 3.5MW of energy.
A new Saudi Aramco built solar facility at the King Abdullah University
of Science and Technology (KAUST) will generate 2MW of energy.
KAUST was established by Saudi Aramco to drive innovation in
science and technology and to support research in areas such as
energy and the environment. Its campus roof was designed to
incorporate massive solar thermal arrays to provide domestic hot water
to all campus buildings, and solar photovoltaic (PV) arrays to generate
and distribute power to campus buildings based upon demand.

Another major use of solar technology has been plans by the King
Abdulaziz City for Science and Technology (KACST), an independent
scientific organisation, announced in January 2011, to develop solar
powered desalination plants using advanced nanotechnology. The
main aim of this programme is to produce low-cost water treatment
and electricity production. Desalinated seawater will be produced at a
cost of less than US$0.56 per m3, compared to the current cost of
desalination of seawater, by thermal technology which costs up to
US1.50 per m3.
Nuclear power is also a major feature of the Kingdom’s headlong push
into renewable power generation. In June 2012, KACARE announced
plans to build 16 nuclear reactors by 2030, and aims to have the first
two in ten years, and then to establish two more in each following year.
The estimated cost of each reactor would be US$7 billion and Saudi
Arabia plans to cover 20% of its electricity needs using nuclear energy.
At the same time Saudi Arabia signed a nuclear energy agreement with
Argentina. Desalination and electricity generation projects have been
introduced by Argentina’s Atomic Energy Commission and technology
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firm INVAP, who has previously built research reactors in Algeria and
Egypt. GE is also looking to secure nuclear power contracts in Saudi
Arabia, its largest equipment customer.
Wind power is another technology that has a part to play in the
development of renewable energy sources. A study in 2005, of five
potential locations demonstrated that the cities of Dhulum and Arar
were sites for off grid, remote wind turbines. The same study also
concluded the viability of using grid connected wind turbines to
partially power two coastal cities, Yanbo and Dhahran.
Research into the potential for wind energy undertaken at the King Fahd
University of Petroleum and Minerals concludes that the best sites are
on the Arabian Gulf near Dharan. This research said that hybrid based
power generation would be a more viable and cost effective approach
for remotely located communities (that need an independent source of
electrical energy) where it is uneconomical to extend the grid.
As evidence of its commitment to becoming a world leader in
renewable energy production, Saudi Arabia will soon begin exporting
electricity, following the signing of a linkage agreement with Egypt. In
an interview with Saudi Gazette, Dr. Abdullah Al-Shehri, Head of ECRA,
said a study on the project of exporting electricity to Egypt had been
completed and the implementation phase would begin soon.
“Saudi Arabia is close to achieving this dream, at a time when it aims
to build a multi-national electricity linkage network with a number of
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regional countries, including Turkey”, he added. Shehri said renewable
energy was a key component of the plan, particularly solar energy, as
well as the implementation of fuel consumption reduction and energy
efficiency programmes in Saudi Arabia itself.
Alongside its heavy investment in renewable capacity, Saudi Arabia
continues to develop traditional power generation capacity to meet the
growth in energy demand. In July 2014, for example, ABB Ltd Swiss
engineering giant was awarded a US$78 million contract from Saudi
Electricity Company (SEC) for providing transformers for a two new
combined cycle power plants which will enhance the transmission
capacity in the Riyadh area.
These new plants are part of persistent efforts to boost the country’s
power-generation capacity. SEC aims to increase the capacity by as
much as 50%, to produce about 91GW by 2020. Longer term the
national power transmission and distribution company plans to
increase generation capacity by 100%.
In a speech in 2014, Ziyad Alshiha the Head of SEC said Saudi Arabia
will save 200 million barrels per year of liquid fuel by switching its
power stations to more efficient combined cycle turbines, a process
which SEC began in 2009. Saudi Arabia is by far the largest user of
crude oil for power generation, with most other countries having
abandoned oil-fired generation long ago in favour of gas, nuclear and
renewable sources.
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Major industrial and infrastructure
developments create wealth of opportunities
Diversification is a key feature of industrial strategy in Saudi Arabia, as
the Kingdom strives to reduce its dependence on the dominant oil &
gas sector and at the same time seeks to create sustainable
employment opportunities for the young and growing population.
Industrial products currently make up more than 90% of non-oil
exports and include plastics, metal goods, construction materials and
electrical appliances, which are exported to some 90 countries.
For UK business, Saudi Arabia represents a large market with a wealth
of opportunities, particularly in its priority areas of investment, such as
the range of rail projects currently being undertaken, new power and
other infrastructure developments and major expansion of its
healthcare and education systems.
Given the UK’s role in the Kingdom’s development to date, and the
strength of ties demonstrated by the huge arms deals, there is an
established appreciation of the contribution which UK business can
make, as well as the range of skills it can offer - everything from
construction management to education - along with no limits on
foreign ownership of local business.
At a conference in early 2014, Saudi Arabian General Investment
Authority (SAGIA) Governor, Abdul Lateef Al-Othman, asserted that the

Kingdom had undertaken many initiatives towards enhancing its
business and investment environment and was an exceptionally
attractive place for international business to establish themselves:
“The Kingdom has no income tax, no property tax, no sales tax, and no
value-added tax. Corporate tax is only 20%, with the ability to carry
losses forward indefinitely to offset future taxes”, he said, pointing out
that there are no constraints on the repatriation of capital and no
minimum capital requirements for foreign investors in most sectors.
“Today Saudi Arabia’s economy remains one of the largest in the
world. At US$727 billion, our GDP ranks 19th in the world, having
tripled during the past ten years. According to the IMF, Saudi Arabia is
the third fastest growing economy among G20 states after China and
India, and the largest economy in the Middle East and Northern Africa,
accounting for more than one half of the GCC’s economic output”, AlOthman added.
Referring to economic diversification, Al-Othman continued: “Our
partnering is now extending beyond hydrocarbons to encompass the
whole spectrum of business activity from healthcare, education,
training, ICT and transportation. We aim to target our incentives,
land allocation, and services toward businesses in a way that is
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commensurate with their contribution to the economy”. He added,
saying that a priority was building on the Kingdom’s natural assets by
growing its downstream petrochemical, manufacturing and
technology sectors.
“We will be working closely with the Ministry of Petroleum and Mineral
Resources, Saudi Aramco, SABIC and the National Industrial Clusters
Development Programme to continue to support these mainstays of
our economy. We will support the effort that Saudi Arabia is making to
become a technology hub for water desalination”, Al-Othman said.
A central plank of Saudi Arabian industrial strategy is the Saudi
Clusters Programme, which was initiated by the Government to
develop and to provide support to a range of new industries. The aim
of the Programme is to grow and diversify the economy by developing
targeted industrial clusters that leverage the Kingdom’s resources.
The Clusters have been selected in areas where the Saudi Arabian
fundamentals of abundant, competitive energy and raw materials can
be leveraged to create competitive ventures that meet the aspirations
of both the country and of potential investors. The sectors have been
chosen on the basis that they are where the Government believes that,
over time, Saudi Arabia can become competitive on a global basis.
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The Government agency established to oversee the Clusters
Programme is focusing on five fast growing, export oriented industrial
sectors: Automotive; Minerals and Metal Processing; Solar Energy
products; Plastics and Packaging; Home Appliances. These selected
industries share two main characteristics: firstly, they all use and can
make the most of Saudi Arabia’s abundant natural resources, raw
materials and energy; and secondly, they all have huge potential.
In its National Industrial Strategy 2020, the Ministry of Commerce and
Industry recognises that the country has reached a crossroads. It faces
a choice of either accepting its role as a wealthy oil based nation,
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For UK business, Saudi Arabia represents a large
market with a wealth of opportunities, particularly in
its priority areas of investment.
which maintains its current organic growth path with prosperity driven
by its natural resources, or embraces the challenge of becoming a
globally competitive economy, by “leveraging the natural resource
base to take the country to the next level of development”.
“Manufacturing is our strategic choice to diversify the economy” says
the Ministry’s manifesto, envisaging a new phase of industrialisation
and setting out a vision for the establishment of “A globally
competitive industry, based on innovation and acting as a major tool in
transforming national resources into sustainable wealth”. It sets out an
ambitious target with a strategic goal of increasing the contribution of
the manufacturing sector to Saudi Arabian GDP from its current level
of 11% to 20% by 2020.
Bearing out this strategy, Economy and Planning Minister, Mohammed
Al-Jasser, told delegates at the Seventh Global Competitiveness
Forum in Riyadh, that the Kingdom had diversified its economy into
several viable areas in keeping with global trends. Non-oil exports grew
from US$8.53 billion in 2001 to US$53.3 billion in 2013, he said.
Newly initiated projects have created plenty of jobs in the market,
added the Minister. Young Saudis are being given attractive incentives

to achieve their aims in education, he pointed out, with 185,000 Saudi
students pursuing studies in various universities and colleges
throughout the world.
2013 was a bumper year for construction contract awards, according
to the most recent BMI report on industrial development in the
Kingdom. It anticipates a growth in the construction industry of 7.2%
in the second half of 2014, reflecting value of awarded contracts during
2013, which reached an all time high of US$78 billion, an increase of
25% compared with 2012. (NCB Construction Contracts Index)
Among major new investments were projects in the transportation,
power and the petrochemicals sectors. Metro projects awarded
included contracts for construction of Lines 1-6 of the Riyadh Metro,
worth US$22.5 billion and due to be fully complete in 2019, the first
phase of the US$16.8 billion Mecca public transport system, and a
metro system for Jeddah, where a six year construction programme is
costing around US$6 billion.
Development of new power generation and transmission capacity is
another area of rapid expansion, with the Government’s US$80 billion
investment plan for electricity infrastructure - covering the years 2008
49

SAUDI ARABIA - 2014|2015 DISCOVERING BUSINESS

to 2018 and excluding nuclear capacity - leading to significant activity
in the energy sector.
In January 2014, for example, Abdul Latif Jameel Energy launched a
joint venture with Fotowatio Renewable Ventures from Spain, to
develop solar power projects across Saudi Arabia, in line with the
country's renewable energy expansion programme. A number of
100MW projects will be developed by the joint venture at an estimated
cost of US$130 million each.

The Government offered incentives for the establishment of private
companies at the Industrial Cities. SABIC, was created in 1976, and
has set up non-oil industrial facilities, that use as feedstock natural gas
and natural gas liquids manufactured by the oil industry.

Saudi Arabia’s all important petrochemical and oil-based industries
are concentrated within Industrial Cities in major urban centres. These
plants use natural gas and natural gas liquids that were previously
flared, as well as refined products from the oil industry to manufacture
products which in turn feed non-oil industries. Concentration on
industrial plants in specific areas also facilitates the provision of vital
support services, such as water, power and transportation.

SABIC, 70% owned by the Saudi Government and 30% by
shareholders from the six GCC countries, quickly became the
backbone of Saudi industrialisation. By 1994, it had 15 major plants
operating in Jubail, Yanbu, and Jeddah, with an annual production of
13 million tonnes. By 2002, total production was 40.6 million tonnes
of basic and intermediate chemicals, polymers, plastics, industrial
gases, fertilisers, steel and other metals.

Jubail Industrial City on the Arabian Gulf, for example, has many
factories and industrial facilities, including a desalination plant, a
seaport, a vocational training institute and a college. The Yanbu Industrial
City on the Red Sea has a modern port, refineries, a petrochemical
complex and many manufacturing and support enterprises.

One of the most ambitious economic projects to date is the massive
King Abdullah Economic City near Jeddah, which broke ground in
December 2005. The residential and commercial mega project will
include a dedicated port, an industrial park, a residential and hotel
complex, and educational facilities. In 2006, Custodian of the Two
Holy Mosques, King Abdullah, launched similar Economic Cities in
Rabigh, Ha’il and Medina. Plans are also underway for an Economic
City in Mecca.

In a move to improve the quality of services provided by the Industrial
Cities, the Saudi Industrial Property Authority (Modon) was established
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in 2001, as an independent public agency to supervise the
establishment and management of Industrial Cities and Technology
Zones, as well as the operation, maintenance and development of
these cities in collaboration with the private sector.
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New Economic Cities at the heart
of drive to diversify the Saudi economy
A cornerstone of plans by the Saudi Arabian Government to diversify
its economy away from reliance on the oil & gas sector - currently
accounting for 94% of GDP - is the development of new Economic
Cities across the Kingdom to act as the focus for large scale inward
investment, and to create training and employment opportunities for its
young population.
Under the supervision and regulation of the Saudi Arabian General
Investment Authority (SAGIA), these new Economic Cities are designed
to provide a more attractive environment for foreign investors, with the
Government acting as regulator, facilitator and promoter, while private
industry provides capital, land ownership and development.
The first four cities are King Abdullah Economic City (KAEC), Prince
Abdulaziz bin Mousaed City, Knowledge Economic City and Jazan
Economic City (JEC), will require more than US$50 billion of
investment and represent a huge opportunity for contractors, with

major projects to develop port and industrial infrastructure as well as
related commercial and residential property development.
With the exception of KAEC, the largest and most advanced of the four,
each city has its own area of specialisation being developed around at
least one globally competitive cluster or industry. They are also being
developed according to environmental guidelines using state of the art,
green field solutions.
The aim is to create opportunities for the private sector by way of jobs
and attractive lifestyles and to provide a business friendly atmosphere.
The original concept was to have each City developed by the private
sector, promoting private investment opportunities in developing
infrastructure, real estate and industry.
The largest and most advanced of the four is KAEC. It will eventually
extend to an area of 168km2 and is located at Rabigh on the Red
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Sea coast, around 100km north of Jeddah, Saudi Arabia’s principal
commercial centre. That puts it only one hour 20 minutes away from
the city of Mecca and three hours by road from Medina.
Overseeing development of KAEC is the Economic Cities Authority
(ECA), which is based in the new Economic City and which can offer a
range of incentives to companies looking to establish in the new city,
including: 100% foreign ownership for individuals and organisations,
seaport and Bonded Zones, and access to permits and licenses related
to living, working, operating businesses, and owning and managing
properties in KAEC.
The US$27 billion development is divided into six main components:
industrial zone, seaport, residential areas, sea resort, educational zone
and central business district. It is being built by Emaar, The Economic
City. This is a Tadawul listed company formed through a partnership
between Dubai based Emaar Properties, one of the world’s largest real
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estate companies, and Saudi Arabian General Investment Authority
(SAGIA), which is the main facilitator of the project.
More than 1,000 hectares of industrial space is being developed at
KAEC, comprising industrial and light manufacturing facilities;
research and development; business and office space; services;
hospitality; and education and community services.
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The aim is to create opportunities for the private sector
by way of jobs and attractive lifestyles and to provide a
business friendly atmosphere.
A major feature of KAEC is its seaport, King Abdullah Port, which is the
first privately owned and funded port in the Kingdom. It is a full service
commercial port, occupying strategic location, at a time when the
emergence of China and India as major world economies has
contributed to the Gulf Region, as an increasingly attractive hub.
Besides helping reduce east-west trans shipment times, it is also close
to the major industrial and population centres.
King Abdullah Port opened at the start of 2014, and currently has 700m
of quays and a water depth of 18m. Its eight cranes can service the
largest ships and can currently handle a total of 1.3 million twenty foot
equivalent units (TEUs) per year, with that figure planned to increase to
4.0 million TEUs per year by the end of 2015, 7.0 million TEUs per
year by 2017 and ultimately to reach 20.0 million TEUs per year.
Once completed, King Abdullah Port will be the largest in the region,
covering 13.8km2, while residential areas are expected to include
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apartments and villas - eventual homes for a half million residents
and 10,000 tourists, along with parks and green spaces and many
public amenities.
The sea resort will become a major tourist destination, accommodating
tourists with an 18 hole golf course, equestrian club, yacht club
and a range of water sports. The educational zone is planned to
consist of a multi-university campus flanked by two Research and
Development parks.
Second of the four new Economic Cities is Prince Abdulaziz Bin
Mousaed Economic City (PABMEC) near the city of Ha’il. It will cover
an area of 156km2 and is on the hub of transportation routes in the
Middle East. Its focus will be on transportation, logistics,
petrochemicals, agribusiness, minerals and construction materials. It
will also feature a knowledge centre and is expected to eventually
provide jobs for 30,000 and housing for 180,000 people.
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Key features of PABMEC, which is 8km north of Ha’il and 700km north
west of Riyadh, will be its focus on transport and logistics, with a
multimodal dry port handling truck and rail cargo, an international
airport, and an intermodal passenger station serving both bus and rail
passengers and integrated with local public transport and a highway
rest area.
Development here is being led by a Kuwaiti investment management
business, Al Mal, through a holding company called Al Mal
Economic City Holding Company. A ten year development
programme began in 2009 and working alongside Al Mal is a
quartet of international consultants, comprising accountants Ernst
& Young, architects KEO, building consultants WSP and Netherlands
Airport Consultants (NACO).
Knowledge Economic City (KEC), which is being built on the outskirts
of Medina in the west of the Kingdom, will be focused on knowledge
based industries, including IT and life sciences. It will also be home to
a centre for Islamic civilisation studies and a mosque for 10,000
worshippers. The project will be linked by monorail to Medina’s Grand
Mosque and benefit from the expansion of the nearby Prince
Mohammed Bin Abdulaziz Airport.
Plans for KEC include technological and administrative colleges, for
medical studies, biological sciences and health services. Besides
being the home of a multimodal transportation centre and business
district, there will also be a major retail centre and hotel complex. Once

completed, KEC will cover an area of 4.8km2, and be home to around
200,000 residents.
Finally, JEC will be located in the southwestern region of the country
on the Red Sea and occupy an area of 100km2 some 60km northwest
of the existing city of Jazan. JEC is being developed as an industrial
and logistics hub, connecting the wider region with global export
markets and is a joint venture between Saudi Binladin Group and
Malaysia’s MMC Corporation Berhad, which will develop and manage
the city over 30 years.
JEC will feature a port, an industrial zone, commercial and cultural
centres, residential areas, and academic and vocational training
institutions. Its focus will be on energy, agriculture and labour
intensive industries. Jazan’s industrial zone will account for more than
two-thirds of the project, and will include a port, an aluminum smelter,
an oil refinery, metal and mineral processing plants, as well as
fisheries and agro-based industry. It will also include a power and
desalination plant to support these industrial facilities.
JEC’s seaport will cover and area of 3.3km2, making it one of the
largest and most significant ports in the region, as well as being a
major Red Sea terminal, with modern facilities capable of handling the
largest vessels. It will provide job opportunities in ancillary areas such
as cargo, storage, trans-shipment, and logistics, while alongside the
sea port, a dry dock is intended to provide services for fishing boats
and ships.
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Port expansion reflects Saudi Arabia’s
economic growth and key strategic location
Major expansion of Saudi Arabia’s ports infrastructure reflects a
combination of continuing economic growth, with the Kingdom’s key
strategic location as a hub for international trade, as the largest and
most diversified economy in the Middle East and its status as the
world’s principal oil exporting country.
As the Saudi Government looks to see investment of up to US$10
billion in development of its port infrastructure over the next decade,
there will be increasing opportunities for UK companies in many areas.
In particular, the use of Build Operate Transfer (BOT) as a means of
funding new facilities, gives opportunities for provision of legal
services as well as other support functions, including port planning
and development consultancy, port security, equipment supply, and
port operation contracts.
56

Responsibility for overseeing the country’s ports is in the hands of the
Saudi Ports Authority, which has managed a process of privatisation
since 1997, by which it began passing responsibility for port
management, operation and maintenance to the private sector. The
Saudi Ports are now fully managed and operated on a commercial
basis, with the Ports Authority retaining its supervisory role.
There are nine principal ports in Saudi Arabia, of which five, Dhiba,
Yanbu Commercial Port, Yanbu Industrial Port, Jeddah and Jazan on the
Red Sea coast, with the other four, Ras Al-Khair, Jubail Industrial Port,
Jubail Commercial Port and Dammam, on the Persian Gulf.
Total cargo handled at the Saudi ports in 2013 amounted to 194.8
million tonnes, up from a 2012 total of 187.7 million tonnes,
according to figures produced by the Saudi Ports Authority. Within this
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total there was a slight increase in imports at 94.5 million tonnes
(2012: 86.9 million tonnes) while exports were virtually unchanged at
100.3 million tonnes (2012: 100.8 million tonnes).
The Saudi Ports Authority Annual Report, revealed that the Authority's
revenues amounted to US$1.09 billion in 2013, up 28% from what was
projected in its development plan for the year, an increase of 1.5% over
the 2012 total. Minister of Transport and Chairman of the Authority's
Board of Directors, Dr Jubarah bin Eid Al-Suraiseri said in the Report,
that the Kingdom’s extensive network of nine commercial and
industrial sea ports, as well as six petroleum and commercial ports,
and three industrial ports were playing a pivotal role in the import of all
kinds of goods and services needed by the local market.
More than half of Saudi Arabia’s sea traffic passes through the Islamic
Port of Jeddah, one of the main ports in the Middle East and an entry
point for pilgrims. New port facilities at Yanbu Industrial City on the
Red Sea have eased Jeddah’s load and improved the efficiency of
petrochemical exports.
New ports development is a major feature of the programme to
develop four new Economic Cities, a key element in the country’s
attempts to attract Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) to diversify the
economy. New ports are being developed in King Abdullah Economic
City (KAEC) and Jazan Economic City (JEC). Development of US$6
billion Millennium Seaport in KAEC is set to be completed by 2019,
by which time the port’s total capacity will be ten million twenty foot
equivalent units (TEUs).

A landmark in the development of Saudi ports was the opening in
early 2014, of the world class sea port at KAEC, which covers an area
of 15km2 and is designed to become one of the top ten ports in the
world and a major hub for Asian and European shipping lines. The
new port is being developed by Ports Development Company (PDC),
a joint venture between Saudi Binladin Group and Emaar Economic
City Company.
In May 2014, PDC and Banque Saudi Fransi (BSF) signed agreements
governing a US$140 million Murabaha Bridge Financing for expansion
of the port. Murabaha is an Islamic financing structure, through which
an intermediary buys a property with free and clear title to it. The
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New ports development is a major feature of the
programme to develop four new Economic Cities, a
key element in the country’s attempts to attract FDI.
intermediary and prospective buyer then agree upon a sale price
(including an agreed upon profit for the intermediary) that can be made
through a series of instalments, or as a lump sum payment.

beyond. It will have an integrated transport system, with easy transfer
from sea to rail, road and air, making it a gateway to the Central and
Eastern Provinces as well as the entire Kingdom.

BSF is a market leader in the provision of Islamic project and
structured finance in Saudi Arabia and expects to continue providing
finance to PDC during the port development programme.

Being located close to the holy cities of Mecca and Medina, the port
will also have a dedicated Hajj terminal that can receive over 500,000
pilgrims every season. To cater to the pilgrims’ needs, there will be
adjoining hotels, medical facilities and other world class amenities.

Once completed, the new port will be able to handle about 20 million
TEUs per year. It will have 30 wharfs with a water depth of 18m, and
will also have the largest cranes in the world and advanced container
handling systems. The King Abdullah Port has a storage capacity of
300,000m2 to accommodate more than 700,000 units.
With its strategic location on the Red Sea and instant access to key
cities within Saudi Arabia, the King Abdullah Port will be an obvious
hub for onward movement of goods to Europe, Africa, Asia, and
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King Abdulaziz Port, also known as Dammam Port, is also undergoing
expansion, with more than US$750 million being invested, including
US$535 million for container terminal capacity expansion and US$213
million for other facilities, following a 10% year-on-year increase in
container handling between 2011 and 2012.
A new container terminal will double the port’s capacity to three
million TEUs and is scheduled to be completed by 2015. This much

Elsewhere, other proposed port developments include a new
container terminal, at a cost of US$46 million to be built in Dheba
Port, with two others to be constructed at King Fahd Industrial Port in
Jubail at a cost of US$38 million, both of which are due for
completion by the end of 2014.
At Yanbu on the Red Sea coast, plans were unveiled in Spring 2014 for
the construction of a major new shipyard, as part of a major port
expansion, set to be completed in 2018/19, together with a US$1.8
billion minerals hub, according to a report in Seatrade magazine. The
minerals distribution hub is aimed at mining companies investing in
Africa, who will be targeted to use the Yanbu hub for their international
distribution of minerals.
This development at Yanbu, reflects a growing realisation within Saudi
Arabia of the importance of its strategic location and the significance
of its Red Sea ports on the world’s main shipping lane. Like other
Saudi Red Sea ports, Yanbu is ideally situated on the route between
Colombo and Suez, lying 300km north of Jeddah Islamic Port, the
Kingdom’s principal cargo gateway.
Yanbu’s two ports have a total capacity of 190 million tonnes a year,
and seven terminals with 24 berths, while the water depth allows the
two ports to handle the largest vessels in the world to come alongside.
Yanbu Industrial City has invested US$40 billion to date in
petrochemicals, refining and desalination, and expects to see a further

US$21 billion of spending on new downstream hydrocarbons projects,
including auto-parts, together with the minerals hub, by 2020.
Although some ports saw a contraction in either gross tonnage or
container handling during 2013, 2014 will see most of these facilities
return to growth, according to the latest Saudi freight transport sector
report by Business Monitor International (BMI). The Report notes that
the 2013 contraction followed extraordinary growth in 2012, which had
been driven by incentives from Government.
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needed capacity reflects the port’s strategic importance, as the only
Saudi port with a rail link which connects the city and port’s docks
directly to nearby industrial complexes.

“We believe that growth at Saudi Arabian ports will remain strong over
the medium term and the construction of new facilities, while
potentially impacting on some existing ports like the Jeddah Islamic
Port, will serve to strengthen the sector further”, notes the Report.
“Specific investments in expanding maritime facilities, and in projects
such as the Saudi Landbridge, the east-west rail project linking Riyadh
with Jeddah Islamic Port, and the North-South Railway, coupled with
strong economic growth on the back of large oil receipts, will continue
to boost freight volumes over the medium and long term”, it adds.
In April 2014, Italian railway consultancy Italferr, in conjunction with
Arab Consulting Engineering Centre, won the design contract from the
Saudi Railway Organisation for the Landbridge railway project. The
950km link will considerably shorten transit times between Saudi’s
Gulf and Red Sea ports. The US$7 billion project to shorten freight
travel times between Dammam and Jeddah will include upgrading of
the existing Dammam to Riyadh line and, when complete, freight will
take just 18 hours to travel between the ports, as compared to a current
sea journey taking between five and seven days.
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Over 40 years in Saudi Arabia

CASE STUDY: PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF

In 2014, Parsons Brinckerhoff celebrates 129 years of serving our
clients, including over 40 years in the Middle East. As a global
company, Parsons Brinckerhoff has participated in some of the world’s
most notable power and infrastructure projects, from the original
planning and design of the New York City subway system, to the highly
visible Medupi mega power plant in South Africa, to India’s Delhi
Metro, to the Palm Jumeirah Infrastructure Programme in Dubai, to the
Rabigh II Power Station project in Saudi Arabia.
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Parsons Brinckerhoff develops and operates sustainable power and
infrastructure to meet the needs of communities around the world. We
provide Strategic Consulting, Planning, Engineering, Operations &
Maintenance, and Programme and Construction Management Services
to both public and private sector clients. Our services are
comprehensive, and we provide total project delivery on projects of any
scale. We employ Engineers from many disciplines (including Civil,
Mechanical, Structural, Electrical, Chemical, Geotechnical and
Acoustic), Project and Programme Managers, Construction Managers
and Management Consultants, Environmental Scientists, Planners, and
Geospatial Information System Specialists.
Parsons Brinckerhoff began working in Saudi Arabia over four decades
ago, providing Consulting Services to the Power Industry and Private
Developers. Since then, we’ve expanded to include a wide array of

markets and clients. We have advised the Government on the potential
for expanding the Kingdom’s national rail network to meet long term
transportation needs and conducted a range of services from owner’s
engineering, to Project Management, to Environmental Impact
Assessments for major power and transportation projects across
the Kingdom.
Since Parsons Brinckerhoff initially began working in the Kingdom, the
population has increased by approximately 17.5 million. This massive
growth in population size, in a relatively short period of time,
necessitated an astonishing leap in the planning and construction of
infrastructure, transportation, and power services. The growth of the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is a positive example of a government facing
head on, the challenge of population expansion, and meeting and
exceeding the needs of its people, through forward thinking and
planning, and the building of impressive networks in power,
infrastructure, roads, and airports.
Parsons Brinckerhoff is immensely proud of the projects we have
completed for our clients over the past 40 years in Saudi Arabia. We
are currently engaged as Consultants on the groundbreaking Rabigh
Power Plant II (PP2), the most environmentally friendly plant ever built
in Saudi Arabia by owners Saudi Electricity Company (SEC) and also
now on PP12 Power Plant for SEC. We have also worked on large scale

Engineering and specialist advice to the infrastructure
and power supply industry worldwide.
Parsons Brinckerhoff is a leader in developing and operating infrastructure around the world, with approximately 14,000
employees in 150 offices dedicated to meeting the needs of clients and communities in the Middle East, Europe, Africa,
Americas, Asia and Australia-Pacific regions. With over 40 years in the Middle East, Parsons Brinckerhoff offers skills
and resources in strategic consulting, planning, engineering, programme/construction management and operations for
all modes of infrastructure including transportation, rail, highways, power, buildings, water and the environment.

International Consultants | Engineers | Designers | Programme Managers
For more information about how we could make a difference to your next project call
on 971 4 376 7222, email MEMarketing@pbworld.com or visit www.pbworld.com
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CASE STUDY: PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF

transportation and infrastructure projects including the Royal Terminal
Jeddah, Makkah Central Integrated Traffic & Transport Solutions,
Construction Management of King Fahd Medical City, and the Al
Madina Monorail project.
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In the past year, we have been engaged by Saudi Railway Company
(SAR) to provide Project Management Consultancy services for the
Landbridge Railway project, ultimately connecting Jeddah Port to the
Port of Jubail. When completed, it will serve to reduce travelling
between port to port transfer from the current four days’ shipping time
to around ten hours. We are proud to be involved with this nationally
and regionally strategic and important project during its
implementation period. We have previously provided technical
services at the feasibility stage for Makkah Municipality on the Makkah
MRT project and are currently appointed as Programme Management
Office Consultant to the Development Commission of Makkah and
Mashaaer for the multibillion US dollar Makkah Public Transportation
Programme. These will serve to address the travel needs of millions of
people who come to Makkah each year to undertake Hajj and Umrah,
in addition to its 1.7 million residents.
In 2010, a Royal Decree announced the creation of the King Abdullah
City for Atomic and Renewable Energy (K.A. CARE), an initiative aimed
at guiding the Saudi market towards sustainable energy. An
announcement in 2012, detailed the country’s plans to embrace the
renewable energy sector, aiming to generate 30% of the nation’s

electricity through solar power by 2032. This ambitious goal is
representative of the shifting global energy market towards cleaner and
more efficient methods of power production. To aid the Kingdom’s
achievement of its target, a continued merging of local and
international professionals and their knowledge and expertise will be
inevitable. Parsons Brinckerhoff is looking to the future together with
our clients in Saudi Arabia, embracing innovative new technology
along with the skills of highly experienced Engineers, Designers, and
Programme Managers.
Saudi Arabia is recognised globally as a Middle Eastern pinnacle of
technological ambition. With recent plans announced regarding the
construction of Kingdom Tower to be the world’s highest reaching
building, it is clear that Saudi Arabia is a global powerhouse when it
comes to construction innovation. Parsons Brinckerhoff is thrilled to
lend continued support, expertise, and knowledge to Saudi Arabian
developers and owners, as it has done over the past four decades.
During this time we have watched as projects grow larger and greater
in both ambition and final output. Parsons Brinckerhoff has provided
clients with Consultancy Services on projects ranging from studies and
Advisory Services to Full Project Management Services in the
construction of major buildings and power stations, transportation
planning, and rail masterplans. We have acted as Consultants at the
forefront of construction growth in the Kingdom, standing alongside
Government and Private Clients to assist them in the realisation of their
planned projects, from conception to delivery.

A lack of rainfall and a steadily growing population has made Saudi
Arabia the world’s biggest producer of desalinated water and forced the
Kingdom to invest tens of billions of dollars in water treatment
facilities. With one expert suggesting that demand for water is growing
by more than 8.8% annually, and could more than double over the next
two decades, the knock on effect will be to increase pressure on oil
consumption and so have an impact on the Saudi economy.
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Huge investments being made
to meet rapidly growing demand
for secure water supply
coming from SWCC desalination stations and 20% from stations
operated by the private sector. To power its desalination plants, located
on the eastern and western coasts of the country, SWCC consumes the
equivalent of 300,000 bpd. Aquifers are vast underground reservoirs of
water and account for most of the remaining water supply, with surface
water making up a small proportion of the total supply at around 10%.

Saudi Arabia is among the poorest countries in the world, in terms of
natural renewable water resources, being a desert country with little
rain and no rivers or lakes, leaving it dependent on an extensive
infrastructure of costly and energy intensive water desalination plants.
Its state-owned Saline Water Conversion Corporation (SWCC) operates
36 stations, mostly located on the Red Sea coast.

In a recent interview, SWCC Chief Executive, Dr. Al-Ibrahim, said that
its stations were working at their maximum capacity, because demand
for water decreases only for very brief periods. The average
desalination station works 24 hours per day to meet water needs, but
a large percentage of water produced comes from stations nearing the
end of their 25 year designed life, with these stations producing just
over half of the Kingdom’s desalinated water.

The country’s population currently consumes nearly seven billion m3 of
water a day, 60% of which is desalinated, with 40% of that total

Al-Ibrahim has said that SWCC is working on a plan to bring new
technologies to stations nearing the end of their lifespan, to allow them
63

SAUDI ARABIA - 2014|2015 DISCOVERING BUSINESS

to produce more, while using the same amount of fuel and achieving
better environmental standards. He pointed out the Jeddah station,
which SWCC had rebuilt in the same location as an earlier one, using
more advanced technology to raise production by an estimated 600%,
from 40,000m3 to around 240,000m3 per day.
Following a re-opening of SWCC’s Ras Al-Khair water station, the
largest seawater desalination project in the world, after a US$6.21
billion expansion project, daily production of desalinated water has
increased by approximately 150,000m3. SWCC plan to raise its overall
production of desalinated water by around two million m3 per day from
the current level of 3.3 million m3.
In total, the Kingdom currently produces more than 1.2 billion m3 of
desalinated water annually, but planned increases will take that total to
1.825 billion m3 by the end of 2015. To achieve that increase,
investments totalling US$22.1 billion are being made in three large
projects, expected to be completed by 2015. Looking further ahead,
SWCC expects investment in the water sector to grow considerably
after 2015, in order to provide water security and to cope with demand
estimated to be around three times the current level.
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To compound the problem of water scarcity, a large proportion of the
Kingdom’s precious water resources are used for agricultural
purposes, with consumption of irrigation water reaching nearly 21km3
per year, according to the estimates of the Food and Agriculture
Organisation (FAO).
With Saudi Arabia’s deep groundwater on the verge of depletion, and
some estimates suggesting that it will not last for longer than 25 years,
the current scale of water use in agriculture is not sustainable.

Measures taken, include an end to subsidies on wheat cultivation in
2016, and calls for Saudi agricultural investors to move their
investments abroad, where companies have access to better and less
costly agricultural opportunities and an abundance of water resources.

2014 an US$8.8 billion investment in upgrading of the country's
desalination network. This will include a desalination plant in Jubail
with a capacity of 178,000m3 per day and the laying of pipelines
between Jubail and Riyadh, and Rabigh and Mecca via Briman.

Although Saudi Arabia is among the most water poor countries in the
world, its water system is one of the least costly for consumers, whose
consumption is heavily subsidised by the state. The tariff paid by
consumers per m3 of desalinated water is US$0.03, while the cost of
production for stations producing 20,000m3 per day reaches US$3.20
per m3.

In an interview with Arab News, Al-Hassein said a massive strategic
reservoir will be established in Briman Al-Faislaiah to avoid water
shortages. He denied that there was a water crisis in Jeddah, where
supplies are erratic, and pointed out that per capita consumption of
water was now 300 litres per day, compared to 200 litres a few years
ago, suggesting that consumers need to rationalise water consumption
and use rationing devices.

Estimates suggest that investment in desalination projects of around
US$53 billion are needed to meet the expected increase in demand for
water in the period up to 2025. At the same time there is a need to raise
tariffs from their current highly subsidised level, as a means of
rationing consumption.
To help address the growing demand for water, Saudi Arabia’s Minister
of Water and Electricity, Abdullah Al-Hassein, announced in March
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In total, the Kingdom currently produces more than
1.2 billion m3 of desalinated water annually, but
planned increases will take that total to 1.825 billion
m3 by the end of 2015.

Another example of investment in new capacity came in March 2014,
when the National Water Co. (NWC), Saudi Arabia’s largest supplier,
announced US$533 million of water infrastructure projects in the
tourist area of Ta’if. Ta’if already has 30 water projects which were
started during 2013 including supply networks, sewage systems,
treatment plants and a reservoir. Among projects currently underway is
construction in Rabigh on the Red Sea, near Ta’if, of the world’s largest
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desalination plant, which by 2018, will be able to supply 600,000m3
of water per day.
Privatisation is a key feature of the water sector, with the UK already
well represented in plans currently afoot to move NWC into the private
sector. A team comprising KPMG (financial), AECOM (technical) and
Clifford Chance (legal) is working with NWC on its privatisation, while
Hyder is acting as client-side transaction advisors, overseeing legal
and financial teams in the scoping, procurement and close of three
management contracts covering water and wastewater services in
Greater Dammam, Medina and Mecca (including Ta’if).
Another company heading for privatisation is ACWA Power, a power
and water developer, in which the Saudi Government bought a 19.4%
stake in 2013, and into which International Finance Corporation
recently subscribed for US$100 million in new shares, ahead of a
planned IPO on the Saudi Stock Exchange before the end of 2014. The
Riyadh based group has an investment portfolio comprising stakes in
all the major independent power and water projects in Saudi Arabia.
A recent report on the Saudi water sector by Business Monitor
International (BMI) describes it as “one of the most active in the
region and offers some of the greatest opportunities to private sector
participants”. It points to the significant potential offered by new
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desalination and water reclamation projects, but notes the
constraints of limited fresh water resources and rising domestic and
industrial demand.
“Desalination is expensive and requires vast electricity resources.
Moreover, electricity generation itself uses significant volumes of water
in the cooling processes for thermal generation, and although Saudi
Arabia is increasing its solar generation, additional industrial demands
are weighing down on water resources”, notes the BMI report.
“The increasing attractiveness of the Saudi water sector is highlighted
by the widespread international interest it generates and the fact that
various international water management and water infrastructure
groups are keen to enter the sector in Saudi Arabia”, it adds, pointing
out that Japanese companies are seeking greater involvement,
particularly via resource distribution.
One major development, is the start during 2014, of solar powered
desalination, following on from the lead taken by UAE, in conjunction
with potential nuclear powered desalination facilities. These are
particularly important developments as, although expensive to set up
and run, the use of solar energy will reduce the heavy domestic use
of fossil fuel resources for desalination and so allow increased oil &
gas exports.

MINING

Exploiting the Kingdom’s
vast mineral resources
Saudi Arabia is not only a land of desert sands, as many believe, but
one with a wide range of rocks which contain a vast mineral wealth
greater than any other Gulf state and includes gold, copper, phosphate,
and a wide array of industrial minerals. Such is the scale of this wealth
that the Government, as part of its economic diversification strategy,
plans to turn its fledgling mining industry into the “third pillar” of the
economy after oil and petrochemicals.
From almost 50 identified minerals within the Kingdom, there are at
least 15 industrial minerals which could become commercially viable,
with 1,273 sites of precious metals identified and 1,171 sites of nonprecious metals. Minerals discovered in Saudi Arabia include
phosphate; bauxite; bentonite; copper; dolomite; expandable clay;
feldspar and nepheline syenite; garnet; gold; zinc; granite; graphite;
gypsum; tantalum; high grade silica sand; kaolinitic clays; limestone;
magnesium; marble; olivine; pozzolan; rock wool; silver; and zeolites.
To achieve its “third pillar” goal, some US$12 billion has been
allocated by the Government for mining and mineral development in

the period until 2020. The comprehensive investment programme
encompasses the creation of industries for extracting and processing
the minerals, developing the transportation infrastructure to make the
minerals accessible for processing, and streamlining procedures for
the export of minerals and mineral derived products.
Aside from the country’s mineral endowment and planned industrial
projects, a number of other characteristics have given Saudi Arabia a
comparative advantage in the mining industry. The most important
among these include the availability of low cost feedstock, sulphur,
and ammonia in the Jubail area, and the Kingdom’s easy access to
world markets via a network of eight ports, the largest in the region.
Central to the delivery of its targets, is the Saudi Arabian Mining
Company (Ma’aden), which was established in 1997, to act as a
catalyst for private investment in the mining sector. Now partially
privatised, Ma’aden was charged with turning Government owned
projects into commercial ventures, and has implemented an ambitious
exploration and mineral exploitation programme, focused on the
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establishment of infrastructure services at the mining sites, including
water, electricity, telecommunications, and transportation. At the same
time, it has worked to establish strategic partnerships with the private
sector in order to develop the sector from the exploration stage to the
mining and processing stages.
Ma'aden's activities were originally focused on expanding its active
gold business, which now includes five mines and over 11 million
ounces of gold resources at operational and exploration sites. It has
now broadened its activities beyond gold, with the development of
Ma'aden Phosphate Company, which started production in 2011, its
aluminium project which is currently under construction and a number
of other projects. Today Ma’aden comprises four key units: Gold and
Base Metals; Phosphate; Aluminium; and Industrial Minerals, which
include magnesite, kaolin and low grade bauxite.
Due to its vast size, a key challenge in developing its mineral wealth
has been development of the transport infrastructure, which is
essential to move large quantities of ore to processing plants and
shipping terminals. One key element in this process is the new NorthSouth Railway (NSR), a 2,400km rail route connecting the Al-Jalamid
phosphate mine, via Az Zabirah, to Riyadh, and then on to the port
of Jubail.
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Within the new Economic Cities programme, the US$8 billion, Prince
Abdulaziz bin Musaed Economic City at Hail in the northern region, is
being developed to exploit local mineral deposits and one of the key
12 components of the City will be dedicated to mining services.
Another major urban development in support of the mining industry is
the Waad Al-Shamal Industrial City in the north, where deals worth
US$9 billion to develop its industrial infrastructure were announced in
February 2014. Amongst these, was an agreement between Ma’aden,

MINING

During the course of 2014, Ma’aden’s flagship
aluminium smelter at Ras Al-Khair will reach full
production capacity.
Canadian company SNC Lavalin and Chinese Sinopec, to establish a
sulphuric acid plant in the city. Another deal saw Ma’aden agree a
contract with China’s Huanqiu Contracting & Engineering Corp. to
build an ore beneficiation plant.
At the launch of the Waad Al-Shamal Industrial City, Minister of
Finance, Dr. Ibrahim Al-Assaf, said the new NSR Project, would play
a major role in encouraging industrial companies to establish new
facilities in the City. He said the new railway would provide
transport to and from the City, encouraging migration to the area once
infrastructure was completed and employment opportunities had
been created.
Minister of Transport, HE Jabara bin Eid Al-Suraiseri, said the Ministry
will also establish a number of other transport projects to contribute to
the development of the region and achieve balance between all the
Kingdom’s regions. These include linking the City with Saudi ports
along the Arabian Gulf, a project developed in conjunction with China
Harbour Engineering Company.
As part of the Waad Al-Shamal launch, Ma’aden also signed an
agreement with South Korea's Hanwha Engineering & Construction Co.
to build a phosphoric acid plant at a cost of US$930 million. It also
signed a US$825 million deal with Daelim Industrial Company to set
up an ammonia plant, and US$600 million deal with a Spanish

company Intecsa Industrial, to establish a phosphoric fertiliser plant,
an official statement said.
Other agreements announced were to construct the main road to the
City, build a power supply line and set out technical specifications for
an electricity power plant. The Saudi Ports Authority signed a contract
to build a wharf at Ras Al-Khair Port. Finance Minister, Al-Assaf, signed
a deal with a specialised company to provide consultancy services for
building a railway line, linking Waad Al-Shamal City with Ras Al-Khair
Port and Jubail Industrial Port.
Ma’aden had previously awarded two major contracts for development
of the new City; one for a general engineering plan and infrastructure
services and the second for providing engineering designs and
management services for a phosphate project. The first contract was
awarded to Bechtel Company, which will prepare the general
engineering plan of the City including basic, downstream and support
industries. It will also carry out plans for commercial, housing and
educational facilities. The second contract was awarded to Jacobs
Company, which will provide engineering designs and management
services for the phosphate project.
At the start of 2014, Ma’aden reached another milestone in its
development, with the announcement of contracts to supply more than
300,000 tonnes of aluminium in 2014, to a range of customers in Asia,
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following earlier supply agreements covering 50,000 tonnes made
with domestic and Turkish customers. “Together, these supply
agreements not only meet a significant portion of Asian demand, but
they also represent an important milestone in our journey to becoming
a world class minerals enterprise”, said Ma’aden Aluminium Vice
President, Khalid Al Luhaidan. “Ma’aden has arrived as a global
primary Aluminium supplier”.
During the course of 2014, Ma’aden’s flagship aluminium smelter at
Ras Al-Khair will reach full production capacity of 740,000 tonnes of
high quality primary aluminium products. The smelter is part of a
Ma’aden/Alcoa joint venture which, when completed in late 2014, will
represent the world’s largest integrated aluminium processing project.
As majority partner in this joint venture, Ma’aden will take a 74.9%
share of the output. It has been building its marketing capacity in order
to support local Saudi economic growth as well as penetrating the
highly competitive markets in Asia.
In April 2014, Ma’aden entered into an agreement with King Abdullah
University of Science and Technology (KAUST) to join KAUST’s
Industry Collaboration Programme (KICP), as strategic partner. This
network encourages strong research partnerships between KAUST and
industry leaders across Saudi Arabia and the world, to translate
science and technology to the marketplace.
Khalid Al Mudaifer, Ma’aden President and CEO, said “This agreement
not only gives Ma’aden access to KAUST’s innovative research,
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technologies and talent pool but it also provides a collaborative
platform upon which Ma’aden can build a pioneering R&D strategy,
that delivers Saudi solutions to the technology challenges we face,
as we build a modern and globally competitive mining industry in
Saudi Arabia”.
Further evidence of the scale of Ma’aden’s ambitions came in July
2014, with the announcement that its affiliate, Ma’aden Waad AlShamal Phosphate Company (MWSPC), had signed financing facilities
for long term project finance loans with a consortium of 20 financial
institutions, for a total of US$5 billion. MWSPC is a joint venture
company formed by Ma’aden to develop the phosphate project with
The Mosaic and SABIC. Ma’aden, Mosaic and SABIC own 60%, 25%
and 15% of the project respectively.
Participants in the funding include the Public Investment Fund, the
Islamic Development Bank, as well as a range of Saudi Arabian and
international banks and two Korean export credit agencies (the ExportImport Bank of Korea, and Korea Trade Insurance Corporation), who
have participated in the financing in support of the Korean contractors
involved in construction of the project.
As one of the largest, integrated phosphate fertiliser facilities in the
world, it will double Ma’aden’s cost effective phosphate production
and improve Ma’aden’s access to key global markets. The total
estimated cost of the project is US$7.5 billion, and production at the
new facility is expected to commence in late 2016.

AIRPORTS

New airport capacity being
developed to meet growing passenger
numbers and cargo volumes
Steady growth in both passenger and cargo traffic across Saudi Arabia
has led to major investment being made in upgrading and developing
the network of airports across the vast Kingdom, and currently
comprising four international airports at Jeddah, Riyadh, Dammam and
Medina and 23 regional airports catering principally for domestic traffic.
Saudi Arabia will soon have its fifth international airport, with Al-Ahsa
set to compete for Bahraini and Qatari traffic, according to Arab News.
Al-Ahsa Airport, which currently sees only a handful of flights per
week, was given international status by the Saudi General Authority of
Civil Aviation (GACA) in 2011, and has since been subject to a major
upgrading, with the provision of immigration, customs controls,
expanded aircraft parking facilities and a new terminal.

Al-Ahsa is in the city of Al-Hofuf in Eastern Province, so is close to
Bahrain and Qatar, as well as the UAE, although it is less than two
hours from the existing international airport at Dammam. Much of AlAhsa’s new traffic is expected to come from the huge Ghawar oilfield
nearby, the world’s largest conventional oilfield, which brings around
300,000 expatriates to the area. At present some 50% of passengers
using Dammam’s King Fahd International Airport and 17% using
Bahrain Airport are travelling to or from the Al Hofuf area, according to
an Arab News report.
Statistics from the GACA, the regulatory body in Saudi Arabia, show
that the number of passengers using airports across the Kingdom rose
by 5.2% to more than 68 million in 2013, while there was a 1.2% rise
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in aircraft movements compared to 2012. This increase in operations
reflected the introduction of new carriers at a number of airports and
the launch of international flights from some domestic airports. GACA
forecast for Al-Ahsa, suggest that passenger numbers will grow by
300,000 a year between 2015 and 2020.
Work on Jazan, the first of five airports, will include more than
quadrupling the operational area, followed by work at Arar and Al Jouf
airports, according to GACA Chairman, Khaled Al Khaibari. After an
international tendering process, the work at Jazan is due to start during
the course of 2014, with work also due to begin at Arar and Al Jouf
airports in 2014, while the Abha and Al-Qassim projects are scheduled
to begin work before the end of 2015.
The number of passengers at Al Jouf airport is expected to soar from
175,000 presently to one million, following its expansion. Arar airport
will increase from 1,810m2 to 7,560m2, while capacity will grow from
100,000 to 518,000 passengers. At Prince Naif Airport in Al-Qassim,
capacity will double from the existing 750,000 to 1.5 million
passengers. Abha Regional Airport will grow eight fold in two phases,
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with the first increasing capacity to 3.5 million passengers, then to
five million.
To deal with the rapid increase in demand for domestic air travel, GACA
has approved a fourth Saudi operator, Saudi Gulf Airlines, who will be
based in the east coast city of Dammam and offer domestic services
before expanding internationally.
Among the four existing international airports, long term expansion
plans at King Abdulaziz International Airport in Jeddah, the business
airport in Saudi Arabia, will raise its annual passenger capacity to more
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Together with expansion at Dammam and Jeddah, it is
part of a plan to raise the combined capacity of the
Kingdom’s airports to 140 million passengers per year.
than 30 million. Meanwhile, capacity at King Khalid International
Airport in Riyadh will rise to 35 million per year after the opening of its
fifth terminal. In terms of area, King Fahd International Airport (DMM),
located in Dammam is the largest airport in the world.

Terminal (for visiting Heads of State as well as Saudi Royal family use),
one of the world’s tallest central control towers and two parallel
runways, which are each 4,260m long. In all, the airport covers an area
of 316km2, making it amongst the largest in the world.

King Khalid International Airport (KKIA), which opened in 1983, lies
35km north of Riyadh, and was designed by the international
architectural firm HOK, with the Arabian Bechtel Company acting as
Construction Manager on behalf of the Saudi Government. It comprises
four passenger terminals (only three of which are in use) with eight
aero-bridges each, a mosque, and parking for 11,600 vehicles.

KKIA, which is managed by Frankfurt Airport managers, Fraport AG,
has experienced a steady increase in passengers during the last
decade. In 1998, it handled slightly over eight million passengers and
had about 60,000 movements. By 2003, this figure had almost
doubled to more than 14 million passengers and 124,516 movements.
In 2013, the airport handled 18.58 million passengers, an 8.9%
increase on 2012, and 161,314 movements.

Terminals 1 and 2 are used for international flights, Terminal 3 for
domestic flights and Terminal 4 is now being fitted out as part of the
current development programme. The airport also boasts a Royal

The initial US$800 million phase of expansion, to take annual
passenger capacity to 25 million, is scheduled to be completed by
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2015. Further expansion plans, which will raise annual passenger
capacity to 35 million, include construction of a new fifth terminal
and the completion of Terminal 4, which has not previously been
used. In the first major investment at the airport since its opening
30 years ago, it will also be connected to Riyadh’s new metro system,
giving passengers quicker and more comfortable access to the
city centre.
The masterplan for KKIA envisages an eventual increase in capacity to
around 40 million passengers by 2038 and forms part of a broader aim
to make Saudi Arabia a major aviation gateway for both domestic and
international demand. Together with expansion at Dammam and
Jeddah, it is part of a plan to raise the combined capacity of the
Kingdom’s airports to 140 million passengers per year.
On an even grander scale than those at Riyadh, are the expansion plans
for the Kingdom’s busiest international airport, King Abdulaziz
International Airport (KAIA) in Jeddah. Here an US$11.3 billion
expansion programme aims to increase airport capacity from 16
million to 80 million passengers per year in three phases by 2035,
making it one of the largest airports in the world in terms of both
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capacity and area. Once completed, the airport will cover a total area
of 115km2, including a 6.5km2 airport city, housing restaurants, hotels,
shops and other facilities.
The now completed first phase of KAIA's expansion, which increases
capacity to 30 million passengers a year, includes a runway extension
to enable the handling of Airbus A380 aircraft, 46 new gates, a new air
traffic control tower and an air cargo village with capacity to handle 1.5
million tonnes of cargo a year, rising to three million tonnes by the end
of the third phase. Statistics produced by the GACA show that KAIA
handled 26.58 million passengers in 2013, and a total of 187,446
flight movements.
Dammam’s King Fahd International Airport (KFIA), the third most
important in the Kingdom, is also the subject of a major investment
programme, due for completion by 2018. A number of projects are
currently underway to develop the airport’s infrastructure, including its
data network, flight system and modernisation of the arrival and
departure lounges. In addition, its cargo hub will be in operation by the
middle of 2014, following the signing of contracts with five companies
to manage the cargo hub.
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GACA statistics show that KFIA handled 7.31 million passengers in
2013, a 13.8% increase on 2012, with a total of 72,897 aircraft
movements. A masterplan for KFIA aims to increase passenger
handling capacity of the airport to 16 million per year by 2038,
involving expansion of the terminal and other facilities to meet
international requirements.
At the fourth of Saudi Arabia’s existing international airports, Prince
Mohammed bin Abdulaziz Airport at Medina, GACA signed an
agreement with the International Financial Corporation (IFC) in 2009,
for an expansion plan that aims to raise the airport to international
standards and to handle rising numbers of pilgrim passengers. GACA
is seeking private sector investment for the development, following
IFC recommendation that the airport be developed through a Private
Public Partnership.
GACA has also appointed Netherlands Airport Consultants (NACO) to
develop masterplans and functional terminal concepts for 13 of its
regional and domestic airports. NACO will be responsible for

establishing technical and strategic guidelines, aiming to improve and
expand Saudi Arabia's airport system for the next 30 years. The
consultants are carrying out environmental analyses, financial economic
analyses and examining methods to increase non-aeronautical
revenues, through the development of airport commercial areas.
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Massive investment
in new rail infrastructure
For a country that is the world’s leading oil producer it is not surprising
that, as a large and sparsely populated country, Saudi Arabia would
have channelled most of its transport budget into road schemes. But
as its population continues to rise, both public and private transport
projects feature in the massive US$267 billion, which the Government
committed to spending on transport projects in its 2013 budget.
After many decades of focus on road building as its key means of
surface transportation, a revolution has taken place that has, during
recent years, led to the emergence of a series of major new rail
infrastructure developments, amongst which is the largest railway
construction project in the world, the North-South Railway (NSR).
While this will provide a link from the Jordanian border to the Gulf ports
and to Riyadh, principally for the movement of heavy freight, such as
phosphate and bauxite, it will also carry passenger traffic. This will also
be the case with a second huge rail venture, the Landbridge Project,
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linking the Gulf and the Red Sea and involving the construction of
almost 1,000km of new track between Riyadh and Jeddah.
Completing a trio of major rail schemes within the Kingdom, is the
Haramain High Speed Rail Project, or Western Railway. This will
provide a link between Mecca and Medina and connecting with the
route to Riyadh at Jeddah. It is designed to offer safe and comfortable
means of transport for Hajj pilgrims, arriving via Jeddah and will be
operated using 320kmph electric trains.
In addition to this trio of long distance routes, the estimated US$45
billion being committed to rail development also includes plans for the
development of new, or extension of existing, metro systems in Riyadh,
Mecca and Jeddah.
Rail services in the Kingdom are administered by the Saudi Railways
Organisation (SRO), a state owned company which currently runs
freight services on two principal routes, extending to slightly more than
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1,000km. These link Riyadh with the port of Dammam on the Gulf
coast and are used by both passenger and freight services.
Many years after closure of the famous Hejaz narrow gauge railway,
linking Jordan with Medina, railway development resumed in the late
1940s, as a means of transporting goods from Gulf ports to
warehouses in Dhahran. This first line opened in 1951, initially being
run by Aramco, but later transferred to the State and, since 1968, has
been under the management of SRO.
The 1,418km NSR will link Riyadh to Al-Haditha (near the border with
Jordan) with various branch lines off the main route to allow freight to
travel from Al-Jalamid in the phosphate belt in the north, to Az Zabirah
(Al Beitha) in the bauxite belt in the centre of the country and then
eastwards to the processing and port facilities at Ras Al-Khair.
Given its strategic economic importance, the NSR has priority over the
other rail projects. Once it has been completed, the transportation of
phosphate and bauxite mined in the northern region of the Kingdom,
should make Saudi Arabia one of the top global mineral exporters.
Construction of the route is nearing completion. A 576km section
connecting Az Zabirah to Ras Al-Khair was built by the Saudi Binladin
Group and two German firms. Another section, now complete, is
440km from Az Zabirah junction to the middle of the Al Nafude desert,
constructed by a joint venture of the China Railway 18th Bureau and Al
Suwaiket Co.

The 750km section, from the middle of Al Nafude to Al-Jalamid and
Al-Haditha was completed by a consortium of Barclay Mowlem of
Australia, Mitsui of Japan, and Al Rashed of Saudi Arabia. Contracts
have been awarded for the construction of six passenger stations on
the section between Riyadh and Al-Qassim, which are due to open
during 2014.
With much track already complete, the European Train Control System
(ETCS) is being installed and tested by Thales and the Saudi Binladin
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A revolution has taken place that has, during recent
years, led to the emergence of a series of major new rail
infrastructure developments.
Group. It is likely to be the longest route to adopt the ETCS to date.
ElectroMotive Diesel Inc. will provide the diesel locomotives which will
pull freight wagons supplied by China’s South Locomotive and Rolling
Stock Industry Corporation.

After problems arose with the original contract, the Saudi Government
took over control of the project in 2011, and has proceeded with
construction of the line as a state funded project, financed by the
Public Investment Fund.

Costing around US$7 billion, the Landbridge Project represents the
first rail link between the Red Sea and the Gulf. The project, which aims
to maximise surface transport potential between the Red Sea and the
Gulf, involves 950km of new track between Riyadh and Jeddah, 115km
of new track between Dammam and Jubail and the upgrading of the
existing link between Riyadh and Dammam.

In January 2013, US contractor, Fluor Corporation, won a US$72
million, seven year project management contract. Designers Italferr
were selected in July 2013, and were due to complete the design in
the second quarter of 2014. Four consortia are bidding to develop the
project: Agility PwC Logistics Consortium, Mada Consortium, Saudi
Binladin Consortium and the Tarabot Consortium.

Amongst other functions, it will allow the transporting of cargo to and
from King Abdulaziz Port in Dammam and Jeddah Islamic Port. This
will create a valuable and time effective link for raw materials and
manufactured goods, between Europe and North America on one side
and East and South Asia on the other.

The most completed project in the Kingdom is the Mecca to Medina
line, now known as the Haramain HSR, managed by UK based Scott
Wilson Group. The civil works were completed by the Al Rajhi Alliance
which includes the Mada Group, Bouygues, Al Arrab Contracting, Arup
and the China Railway Engineering Corp, and work on the four stations,
engineering aspects and rolling stock is underway.

The railway was originally planned to be developed through a Public
Private Partnership (PPP) and on 21 April 2008, the Tarabot
Consortium, consisting of seven Saudi companies and Asciano of
ustralia, was selected as the preferred bidder for the 50 year Build,
Operate and Transfer (BOT) concession. Disagreements over financial
terms caused the project to be put on hold.
78

Engineering design is by Foster & Partners and Buro Happold, with
Siemens supplying ETCS equipment for the project. Stations at Medina
and Mecca, are being constructed by the Saudi Binladin Group, whilst
the Jeddah and King Abdullah Economic City stations are being
constructed by Saudi Oger. Rolling stock will be provided by the
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Saudi-Spanish Al Shoula Consortium, while operations and
maintenance for 12 years after completion will be undertaken by Indra
and Al Shoula Consortium.

maintenance depots. The system will have an initial capacity of 1.4
million journeys per day, but with the capacity for that to eventually
increase to 3.6 million journeys per day.

Another highly ambitious rail scheme is the Saudi-Bahrain Railway
Bridge. In July 2013, the Saudi and Bahraini Governments announced
five firms were studying the possibility of constructing a railway bridge
connecting the Saudi railway network to Bahrain, parallel to the
existing King Fahd Causeway. It is projected to cost US$10 billion and
the scheduled completion date is 2018. The Saudi railway network will
also link into Qatar via a new causeway and into the UAE as part of the
GCC railway plan.

Three consortia have been appointed to build the lines, while Project
Managers have also been appointed for the six lines. Construction of
one group of three lines will be managed by a group comprising
Parsons Brinckerhoff, Elgin and Systra, while the other three will be
overseen by Louis Berger and Hill International.

At Mecca, the first line of the Mecca Mass Transit scheme opened in
2010, after construction by China Railway Construction Corp. Four
further lines are being built, with AECOM being appointed Project
Manager in April 2013, and Al Balad Al Ameen Company appointed
as Technical Consultants. The scheme is expected to comprise 88
stations and more than 180km of track, with construction expected to
begin in 2015, and completion scheduled for 2023.
In Riyadh, a US$23 billion metro involves the development of six lines,
176km of track, 85 stations, with five interchanges, including one
designed by the renowned international architects, Zaha Hadid, which
is being built in the new King Abdullah Financial District (KAFD). There
will also be 25 park and ride sites, linked bus routes and six

A third major metro project in Jeddah, will comprise a 180km, three
line network running across the city. Jeddah Metro Company was
formed in March 2013, as a joint venture of the Jeddah Municipality
and the Jeddah Urban Development Company, to implement the
project. It aims to find companies to work with that will ensure the new
system is fully integrated with other forms of transport, such as
overland rail lines and bus networks within the city.
French firm Aegis, has worked on the early designs for the project, with
contracts to be awarded for three different packages, covering
architecture and design and project management roles. There is
considerable British interest in a fourth package, covering engineering
works, where three consortia are in the running, with British companies
involved, including WS Atkins, Serco, and Network Rail Consulting.
Bids for the main contractor roles on the three lines are expected to be
invited shortly.
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Yousuf M.A. Naghi & Sons Group
The Yousuf M.A. Naghi & Sons Group has its origins going back to
1911, when a local Jeddah merchant, Mohamed Abdulwahab Naghi
laid the foundations for the company. Not only did he start a small
distribution business, he also started what was to become an enduring
tradition for innovative marketing. Innovation being the key word, the
business expanded and flourished, Mohamed Abdulwahab’s son, the
late Yousuf M.A. Naghi, built up the present Group into one of the major
players in the Saudi market.

CASE STUDY: YOUSUF M.A. NAGHI & SONS

Today the Parent Group, has diversified into four Sub Groups, each one
individually managed by Yousuf M.A. Naghi’s four sons, Mohamed,
Yaser, Saleh and Ammar, all of whom utilise the longstanding
experience, management and marketing skills, financial strength and
local expertise, to continue building the business in Saudi Arabia as
well as the Middle East.
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Headquartered in Jeddah, the Group operates throughout the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia, with a comprehensive network of offices, warehouses
and showrooms, as well as active companies in the UAE and Egypt and
has diversified its activities into the service, catering, transportation
and manufacturing sectors as follows:
• Automotive, from Luxury Cars to Commercial Vehicles & Buses
• Consumer Goods and Foodstuffs (FMCG)
• Electronic and Electrical Goods
• Operation and Maintenance Services
• Catering and Restaurant Operations
• Retail Outlets
• Perfumes, Cosmetics and Personal Care products

• Convenience Stores
• Pharmaceuticals, Medical Technologies and Services
• Transportation, Pullman Coaches, Hajj Buses and Minibuses
• Foodstuff Production and Packing
• Insurance & Risk Management Services
• Hajj & Umrah Service & Transportation Packages
• School Student Transportation
Many major multinational principals and other partner companies have
chosen to work with the Group. These include BMW, Rolls-Royce,
Jaguar/Land Rover, Boots, Hyundai, LG Electronics, L’Oreal, Reckitt
Benckiser, Warner Lambert, Mars plus numerous other companies,
from around the world, all of whom have entrusted their products and
brands to the various Groups within the Yousuf M.A. Naghi & Sons
Group family which are:
• Mohamed Yousuf Naghi & Brothers Group
• Cigalah Group
• Arabian Food Supplies Group
• United Yousuf M. Naghi Co. Ltd
It is with the same commitment to products & services and market
development that the Group offers to all its principals, both existing
and new, so as to maximise effectiveness in the Saudi and Middle
East Markets.
website: www.naghi-group.com
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A young population
drives expansion of retail sector
A young and rapidly growing population, which topped 29 million in
2013, is the main driver for a rapid growth in the Saudi Arabian retail
sector. One third of the population is under the age of 25, prompting
retailers across the Kingdom to focus their marketing efforts onto a
section of the population that is eager to acquire new technologies and
a wide range of consumer goods.
Consumer confidence levels are among the highest in MENA, and
Saudis are among the most eager consumers in the world, according
to A.T. Kearney’s 2013 Global Retail Development Index. Retail sales
were expected to increase by 11% in 2013, according to the Index, yet
retail sales per capita and disposable income remain lower than in
some neighbouring countries, so there is scope for further growth.
Saudi Arabia’s retail market is ranked 16th in the world, according to
the A.T. Kearney Index, and its retail fundamentals remain strong, but
the Kingdom has massive untapped potential as a retail destination. In
addition, it is visited by more than 12 million religious tourists each
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year, driving the need for tailored offerings catering to an important,
diverse consumer group.
Factors behind the growth in the retail market, noted in the latest sector
report by Business Monitor International (BMI), include strong
economic growth, rising disposable incomes, an increasing
acceptance of the concept of modern retailing, an enlarged consumer
base created by the improved position of women in society, and
increased opportunities for Saudi workers.
Household spending will rise across all retail sub-sectors, says BMI’s
Saudi Arabia Retail Report Q2 2014, but it is particularly bullish about
the future growth prospects for restaurant and hotel spending, with
expenditure on furnishing and home also forecast to grow strongly
between 2014 and 2018.
A study of the retail property market, by real estate advisers, Jones
Lang LaSalle, noted considerable market potential resulting from
favourable demographics and domestic demand, but also pointed out
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a number of unique challenges. These include the seasonal aspect of
religious tourism, market concentration, recruitment issues, and
supply chain constraints.
“Despite its unique challenges, Saudi Arabia remains an exciting
retailing opportunity”, says David Macadam, Head of Jones Lang
LaSalle’s Retail Team in MENA. “Retailers across the spectrum are
looking to enter this market to cater to a large and growing domestic
demand, driven by its sizeable young population.
“Those retailers and retail centres that can create a uniquely Saudi
experience will be the ultimate winners, as they will be able to fully
capitalise on the market potential and increasing levels of spending
power available to the Kingdom’s consumers. With the market
becoming more competitive, consumers and retailers have a greater
choice and centres must continue to evolve to match consumer
demand or face becoming obsolete”.
Further positive comment on the retail sector comes from Al Rajhi
Capital, a local investment firm, which reported that retailing was one
of the best performing areas of the economy in 2013, providing better
returns on investment than either agriculture or petrochemicals.

“We believe the sector’s fundamentals remain strong, and it is likely to
continue witnessing robust growth going forward, as consumer
spending rises on the back of improving employment among locals,
and sustained Government spending”, says the Al Rajhi report.
Al Rajhi noted that the strongest area for growth was in the large store
format, due to shifting consumer preferences. This is expected to open
up investment and business opportunities in a range of sectors,
including construction and materials supplies, as Saudi Arabia’s stock
of retail space expands.
One significant factor favouring the retail sector is Government
moves to gradually open up the workplace to the participation of
women. Jeddah based NCB Capital, in a study of the sector, said
increased employment rates, particularly for women, would boost
retail sales figures.
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One third of the population is under the age of 25,
prompting retailers across the Kingdom to focus their
marketing efforts.
Another factor likely to have an impact on the sector is the
Government’s decision to reduce the number of expatriates in the
workforce. This will force retailers to recruit Saudi employees to fill the
gaps left by foreigners who the Government has said will either be
deported or not have their work visas renewed.
While this is a positive move and could help sales in the medium and
long term, as local disposable incomes rise thanks to new employment
opportunities, the Saudisation policy is likely to have a short term
negative impact on the industry, according to NCB Capital’s Head of
Equity Research, Farouk Miah.
Estimates suggest the level of Saudi participation in the retail
workforce is currently 16%, although this figure is set to rise as
retailers recruit to fill vacancies. For some retailers, at least, the higher
costs of manning their counters with local workers will, in part, be

offset by not having to pay visa and recruitment expenses for their
foreign employees.
Farooq Al Khateeb, a Professor at the King Abdulaziz University, says
the costs of reducing the expatriate component in the retail workforce
will be offset by the benefits the move offers. “The retail sector can
provide more than 700,000 jobs for Saudis”, he said in an interview
with the local media in January 2014. “At the same time, the costs of
hiring Saudis are less than for expat workers. A lot of Saudis have
proved their skills in this sector”.
In its report on the Saudi retail property market, Jones Lang LaSalle
identify a number of key features of the market that developers and
retailers should bear in mind when looking at the market. Amongst
cultural considerations, for example, the report notes that whilst
visiting shopping malls has become a favourite pastime due to their air
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conditioning and the harsh summer weather, the retail market is
constrained by cultural factors such as the inability of malls to offer
cinemas which are a mainstay of their entertainment offer in
neighbouring countries.
The report also points out that women represent a significant
opportunity for retailers in Saudi, but their ease of shopping is reduced
by current restrictions on their ability to drive. Another unique cultural
consideration is the limitations upon single men visiting malls during
weekends, where access is only available to families, which has led to
the growth of street retail and showroom formats, notably in categories
targeting single men such as electronics, menswear, sportswear,
watches and fast food.
Religious Tourism represents a challenge to the retail sector - there are
around 2.5 million pilgrims performing Hajj each year and many more
visiting the country to perform Umrah at other times of the year - which
provides a major boost to the Saudi retail market as well as a
challenge, due to its extreme seasonality. Mecca and Medina have
traditionally been underprovided with retail facilities, but large new
mixed use developments now being built include a significant amount
of retail space.
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While Mecca and Medina are the primary beneficiaries of retail
spending from the millions of pilgrims that flock there for religious
occasions, Jeddah is the principal international gateway for such visits.
Many of the pilgrims on their way to Mecca and Medina will spend
time shopping in Jeddah after their journey, providing a huge boost to
the city’s retail sector that is not currently being fully exploited.
Within the Saudi retail market there is intense competition between two
major retail groups, Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair and M H Alshaya, which
are constantly seeking to acquire more brand representation in the
country and more premium outlet space. Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair has
an advantage in that it owns major shopping centre developments in
the country, giving it the edge in terms of outlet locations. Meanwhile
M H Alshaya’s strength lies in its premium brands in more diverse
categories, such as Starbucks.
Concentration in ownership, by which a handful of groups control the
vast majority of the retail brands in Saudi Arabia, creates a challenge to
aspiring independent retailers and also potential conflicts of interest in
the relationships between retailers, landlords, investors and lenders.
Logistics and supply chain management represents another significant
challenge to retailers. There have been improvements to transport
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facilities over the past few years, but supply chain infrastructure in
Saudi Arabia remains less advanced than in other markets in the
region. The Saudi Government recognises the importance of
connectivity and has allocated a vast budget to a wide range of
infrastructure and transport projects.
Growing retailers in the Kingdom include the consumer electronics
chain eXtra, which went public through a US$105 million Initial Public
Offering (IPO) in 2012, and the Dubai based luxury retailer Chalhoub
Group. Hypermarkets are spreading, with Al-Azizia Panda United, Bin
Dawood, Majid Al Futtaim, Al Othaim, and LuLu accounting for roughly
60% of the market. Supermarkets and convenience stores remain
fragmented markets, with leading players accounting for some 20% to
30% of the market.
In the apparel sector, outdoor markets with unbranded products still
hold a central role. Still, brands such as H&M, Bershka, and New Look
are established in the market, while others such as Galeries Lafayette,
Burberry, and Children's Place have recently entered, or plan to.
Foreign apparel companies require a local partner with majority
ownership, so this has helped the growth of large Saudi companies
that distribute for several brands, including Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair
Group and Al Bandar Trading.

Elsewhere, Tesco has announced it will expand its F&F fashion line in
the Middle East with 19 outlets, in partnership with Fawaz Abdulaziz
Alhokair Group. Globe Group, meanwhile, has opened stores for Italian
brands Furla and Liu Jo in Jeddah.
For UK and other international retailers, Saudi Arabia represents a
dynamic and fast developing market opportunity, with its young
population increasingly keen to use its significant spending power to
buy quality branded products in a modern retailing environment.
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Population growth drives
expansion of healthcare provision
Population growth of 2.7% a year and growing incidence of conditions
such as diabetes and heart disease are the twin factors behind a
significant expansion of healthcare provision in Saudi Arabia, as the
Government recognises its critical importance in maintaining the
population’s wellbeing and ensuring the Kingdom’s continued
economic stability.
The healthcare market is expected to expand at a compound annual
growth rate (CAGR) of 11.4%, from US$18.3 billion in 2013 to
US$31.5 billion by 2018, according to a report by Alpen Capital.
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region and in order to make each region independent, in terms of its
healthcare provision.
Saudi Arabia is the largest GCC market for healthcare services,
accounting for around 46% of the regional healthcare market. It has one
of the most developed and technologically advanced medical sectors
in the Middle East, with modern equipment and amenities and is
staffed by healthcare professionals who are internationally recognised
and familiar with Western practices and standards.

Responding to this growing demand, the Government is implementing
policies to build infrastructure as well as increasing private sector
participation. The Government sees investment in healthcare
infrastructure as a priority, and included funding for 19 new hospitals
in its 2013 budget, in addition to the 102 currently under construction.

The 2014 budget allocation to health and social affairs, rose to
US$28.8 billion from US$26.7 billion in 2013. Given the rising
demand for healthcare services, the Government has been
aggressively implementing policies to increase private sector
participation, which had already risen from 25.3% of total spending in
2006, to 31.1% by 2011.

In 2009, the Government approved a ten year strategic healthcare plan
for the period from 2010 to 2020, which included plans for the
construction of four medical cities in the north, south, east and west of
the Kingdom, to complement King Fahd Medical City in the central

A growing and ageing population is one key driver for the healthcare
sector. The population surged by some 35% to 29 million in the
decade from 2002 to 2012, and is expected to rise to 32.7 million by
2018. Life expectancy increased to 75.3 years from 72.6 between
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2000 and 2011, contributing to a growing elderly population, with the
overall population expected to top 35 million by 2025, when those in
the 45-64 age group will be one of the fastest growing sections of the
population. At the same time, diabetes and cardiovascular ailments are
highly prevalent.
Along with demographic change, high incidence of lifestyle related
diseases will be a major factor in the expansion of healthcare. One in
every three people in the country is obese, according to the Obesity
Research Centre at King Saud University, whose researchers are looking
into whether Saudis are genetically predisposed to the condition. "Saudi
Arabia has an exceptionally high incidence of diabetes, heart disease
and congenital disorders", according to John Sfakianakis, Chief
Investment Strategist at Saudi investment firm MASIC.
In 2013, the Ministry of Health signed an agreement with the British
Medical Journal, one of the world‘s most respected medical journals,
for cooperation in health learning and research. The Government also
introduced compulsory medical insurance for the dependents of
expatriates in 2013, as part of its healthcare reform plan and in
February 2014, launched a comprehensive online database for
medical/clinical information for healthcare providers and patients.
Saudi Arabia‘s ninth Five Year Plan, for the period 2010-2014,
allocated US$730 billion for a range of health initiatives, including
construction of 121 hospitals, 700 primary healthcare centres, and

400 emergency centres. Given the strength of demand for healthcare
services, the Alpen Capital report suggests that the number of hospital
beds is expected to expand at a CAGR of 1.7% to 66,635 in 2018 from
an estimated 61,144 in 2013.
World Health Organisation (WHO) statistics show that Saudi Arabia
spent 4% of its GDP on health in 2010, which was one third of the
12.4% average within the group of high income countries to which it
belongs. The WHO figures show that it has 9.4 doctors per 10,000
population, which is again well below the high income countries
average of 27.1.
89

B

eing an essential pillar of the healthcare industry in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia, Glaxo Saudi Arabia Limited is a living success story
of a joint venture between Banaja Holdings, one of the Kingdom’s
leading pharmaceutical distributors and GlaxoSmithKline(GSK), one of
the world’s leading multinational pharmaceutical companies.
Glaxo Saudi Arabia Limited is committed to contribute to Saudi Arabia’s
vision of creating a healthier environment for the Saudi patients, and the
Saudi society.

Being focused on the patient is just one of the values by which we work.
Investing in such an important facility further demonstrates our
commitment, giving us the edge of providing them with signiﬁcant
beneﬁts, that includes reduced lead-time, greater ﬂexibility and ability to
proactively manage ﬂuctuating demands, backed up by quality control
facilities that assures high standards of delivery.
Being a leader always gives you responsibility, where quality is the core
of leadership.
We seek quality that satisﬁes our patients and customers in terms of
manufacturing, supply and marketing of our products.
Glaxo Saudi Arabia Limited complements its role by providing a range
of integrated disease awareness and patients educational programs that
demonstrates its continuous commitment to patient’s health.

Glaxo Saudi Arabia Ltd. Al-Khomrah, Warehouse City, Phase 1, South Cornish, Saudi Arabia,
P.O Box 22617, Jeddah 21416. Tel: 268 9999, Fax: 268 9888
HEAD OFFICE (Jeddah): Al Mohamadya Plaza, 5th ﬂoor, Al Madinah Road, P.O. Box 55850,
Jeddah 21544, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Tel: +966 12 653 6666, Fax: +966 12 653 6660
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Glaxo Saudi Arabia Ltd
Expert Healthcare
for Everyone

We rely on modern technology to enhance our manufacturing facilities,
and develop a range of products that meets multinational quality
standards, while at the same time increase the number of well trained
local staff to effectively manage and operate the plant.
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Saudi Arabia‘s ninth Five Year Plan, for the period
2010-14, allocated US$730 billion for a range of
health initiatives.
As concerns over standards of healthcare grew following the 2011
uprisings elsewhere in the Arab world, Saudi Arabia took action by
launching a programme to construct new healthcare facilities,
introduced new health insurance rules and began offering financial
incentives to providers of private healthcare

obliged to cover their insurance costs. The insurance reform could
swell the pool with more than one million Saudi public servants and
about five million of their dependents, according to research by
Arqaam Capital, a specialist emerging market investment bank, based
in Dubai.

To complement its investment in new facilities, the Government is
offering private companies interest free loans, covering up to 50% of
the cost of building new hospitals. In a further boost to external
investors, Saudis employed in the public sector are expected to
become eligible for State funded health insurance within the next few
years. This would enable them to use private healthcare services
without paying extra.

Such is the expansion in demand, that a number of local healthcare
groups are looking at the stock exchange for new finance. Dallah
Healthcare raised US$144 million in an Initial Public Offering (IPO) at
the end of 2012, while National Medical Care Co. raised US$46.7
million in March 2013. Sulaiman Al-Habib Medical Group and Almana
General Hospitals will also seek to list their shares locally in 2014 or
early 2015, according to a Reuters report.

At present the overwhelming majority, about 83%, of the 8.4 million
health insurance holders are expatriates, whose employers are legally

Major global companies are also looking for ways to boost their
presence. General Electric (GE), one of the biggest manufacturers of
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medical equipment, has said it will build an assembly facility in Saudi
Arabia. “Looking ahead, we continue to see a buoyant healthcare sector
for the Kingdom”, said Mazen Dalati, Chief Executive of GE Healthcare
in the country.
Shortage of skilled staff is likely to be one factor limiting the rate of
healthcare expansion, according to a report by accountants Ernst &
Young, which noted that a considerable shortage of local physicians
and qualified allied healthcare staff meant GCC countries are heavily
dependent on expatriates to fill healthcare jobs. "The region will need
to invest in training their local talent to help build a larger pool of
physicians to cater to the growing demand”, according to Imad U
Bokhari, MENA Transaction Advisory Services Healthcare Leader at
Ernst & Young.
In a bid to overcome the shortage of skilled medical personnel, the
Government has invested in expanding the number of undergraduate
medical colleges, and a number of institutions have reach partnership
deals with colleges and universities overseas. But even these efforts
will never provide enough trained Saudis to meet the sector’s growing
needs, so there will continue to be a need for expatriate expertise.
Ernst & Young said GCC governments are trying to make significant
investments to support healthcare provision and help the industry to
grow to international standards. "As the GCC governments continue to
invest in healthcare, we should see health expenditure as a
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percentage of GDP increase in the future”, noted their report. “The
new healthcare projects will help to attract people to the region as a
medical tourism destination".
Private sector providers could also face challenges from the
Government’s “Saudisation” plans to gradually replace foreign
workers, who hold more than half the jobs in the sector, with Saudi
nationals. At present, 20% of workers in healthcare companies are
required to be Saudi citizens and the Government is looking for ways
to reduce the shortage of qualified personnel, including partnerships
with foreign firms such as GE.
More can be done to attract private sector investment in new
healthcare capacity, according to a report “Healthcare in Saudi
Arabia” published by the Economist Intelligence Unit, which noted
that while the Kingdom was offering financial incentives to attract
private sector investment, more could be done, for example by
cutting red tape.
The Economist report also notes, the need to increase physical
healthcare capacity across the country’s entire geography, including
border areas and remote regions, as well as the need to ensure that
standards of quality are maintained or improved across the sector as it
expands. That is a role which the Ministry of Health is likely to focus
on more sharply as it steps back from financing and delivering
healthcare, notes the report.

EDUCATION

Need for skilled workforce behind
major investment in modernising Saudi
Arabia’s education system
Huge investment in education is being made by the Saudi Arabian
Government. It aims to equip its young population with the learning
and skills needed to fulfil its Saudisation programme, increasing job
opportunities for young Saudis and reducing the Kingdom’s reliance
on foreign labour.
In its 2013 National Plan, spending on education was a key feature. At
US$54.4 billion, it accounted for 25% of the year’s total budget,
which is believed to be amongst the highest in the world. This figure
represented a 21% rise over 2012, and was the highest increase
since 2007.
The funds were earmarked for the building of 539 new schools as well
as the completion of a further 1,900 new school projects, and

refurbishment of 2,000 schools. In addition, 15 new colleges, facilities
and campuses at newly opened universities are being built. The Saudi
Electronic University received US$3.6 billion, an estimated US$1.1
billion was allocated to build three new college hospitals, while
US$5.8 billion was allocated to the 120,000+ Saudi students
studying abroad and their families.
On top of the already significant spending on education accounted for
by the national budget, in May 2014, King Abdullah approved a Five
Year Plan worth more than US$21.5 billion to overhaul the Kingdom’s
education system. It includes the building of 1,500 nursery schools,
the training of 25,000 teachers, and establishing educational centres
and other related projects, according to the Education Minister, Prince
Khaled Al-Faisal.
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Prince Khaled said the King Abdullah project would bring about
qualitative improvements in education, to benefit present and future
generations. “It will improve the performance of teachers and the
educational standard of children”, he said. The project’s scope
includes provision of education through the private sector, linking
schools with a broadband internet system, smart classrooms,
computer systems for e-education needs, setting up specialised
schools, construction of new buildings, renovation and maintenance of
existing schools, and enhancing safety systems.
“The King has also agreed to set up an endowment to support public
education”, the Prince said. “This would enable the Ministry to have an
independent financial source to cover additional expenses, thus easing
pressure on the national budget”.
Saudis have applauded the King’s initiative. “This is good news for all
Saudis”, said Abdelelah Saaty, an Educationist and Rector of the
College of Business in Rabigh.
Prince Khaled also said, King Abdullah has focused attention on this
sector “Because he believes that education is the cornerstone of a
nation’s development”. During King Abdullah’s reign, education has
received the largest share from the State’s wealth. “King Abdullah has
a vision and ambition which is far beyond the present standard of
education in the country”, Saaty said in an interview with Arab News.
The Education Minister is a long serving bureaucrat, with more than 40
years’ experience working as Governor of the two most important
regions of the Kingdom. His role now is to manage a Ministry that is
the largest employer of Saudis after the Defence and Interior
Ministries, with a total of more 500,000 teachers.
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There are concerns with the curriculum over the predominance of
religion and languages, rather than science and mathematics, and
further issues over religion and humanities education and how the
teaching of these subjects needs to reflect the Kingdom’s desire to be
open towards the world.
Another equally important issue for the Minister is the quality of
teaching. A report by the Center for Universal Education at the
Brookings Institution entitled: “Arab Youth: Do they suffer from a
lack of educational foundations that would guarantee them a
productive life?” noted that in Saudi Arabia many male students did
not succeed in acquiring basic education after four years of primary

EDUCATION

Princess Nora bint Abdul Rahman University has
become the first women's university in Saudi Arabia
and largest women only university in the world,
comprising a total of 32 campuses.
school. Girls, however, fared better, with one third able to attain the
basic requirements in education, representing the highest difference
between boys and girls in the Arab world.
The percentage of boys and girls enrolled in Saudi schools is
impressive, notes the report, with more than 95% in schooling, so the
issue is one of quality not quantity. It shows that those who chose to
work in education were often not the best students themselves, so
presenting the Minister with the challenge of how to raise overall
standards amongst the Kingdom’s teaching staff.
Saudi Arabia’s education system has nevertheless gone through an
astonishing transformation. When the Kingdom was established in
1932, education was available to very few people, mostly the children
of wealthy families living in the major cities. Today, the Kingdom can
boast 25 public and 27 private universities, with more planned; some
30,000 schools; and a large number of colleges and other institutions.
The system is open to all citizens, and provides students with free
education, books and health services.
The first university, now known as King Saud University, was founded
in Riyadh in 1957. In 1954, the Ministry of Education was established,
followed by the Ministry of Higher Education in 1975. The first
Government school for girls was built in 1964, and by the end of the

1990s, girls’ schools had been established in every part of the
Kingdom. Today, female students make up over half of the more
than six million students currently enrolled in Saudi schools
and universities.
The education system in Saudi Arabia is primarily under the
jurisdiction of the Ministry of Education, the Ministry of Higher
Education and the General Organisation for Technical Education and
Vocational Training. Other authorities such as the Ministry of Defence
and Aviation, the Presidency of the National Guard, and the Ministry of
the Interior provide their affiliates and children with education at all
levels, consistent with Ministry of Education guidelines. The highest
authority that supervises education in Saudi Arabia is the Supreme
Committee for Educational Policy, established in 1963.
The four stages of formal education begin with primary schooling for
six years from the age of six. All national primary schools are single sex
day schools and in order to move on to intermediate education,
children must pass the examination at the end of Grade 6 and obtain
the Elementary Education Certificate.
Intermediate education lasts for three years, after which comes a
further three years of secondary education. This offers students the
opportunity for both general and specialised studies. Technical
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secondary institutes provide technical and vocational education and
training programmes over three years, in the fields of Industry,
Commerce and Agriculture.
Finally, higher education lasts four years in the field of Humanities and
Social Science and five to six years in the field of Medicine, Pharmacy
and Engineering. Following establishment of the King Saud University
in 1957, as a starting point for the modern higher education, there are
now 25 Government universities. Among them, Taibah, Al-Qassim and
Ta’if universities which were established under the Seventh
Development Plan from 2000 to 2005. They consist of colleges and
departments that offer Diplomas and Bachelor’s, Master's and PhD
degrees in various Scientific and Humanities specialisations.
One recent initiative has been the building of colleges and
universities for women, who represent 60% of Saudi Arabia's college
students, but only 21% of its labour force. Education is a vitally
important sector for women, with 85% of employed Saudi women
working in this field. In the Riyadh area, Princess Nora bint Abdul
Rahman University (PNU) has become the first women's university in
Saudi Arabia and largest women only university in the world,
comprising a total of 32 campuses.
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Through its heavy financial commitment to education, Saudi Arabia
aims to achieve world class status for a number of its universities.
However, raising standards across the primary and secondary tiers of
education is not without its challenges. A recent report by Times
Higher Education noted some basic structural and organisational
problems, making it difficult for the academic profession to fulfil
its potential.
Another issue concerns foreign academics, who comprise 42% of the
total workforce in public universities. All are appointed on renewable
term contracts, but none can aspire to tenured posts, like their Saudi
colleagues, or even long term contracts. While many spend their
careers in the Kingdom, they are unable to obtain Saudi citizenship. So
whilst incentives for them to perform adequately are high, because they
want to have their contracts renewed, there is little incentive for them to
build institutional loyalty or to consistently perform at their top level.
For all the challenges it faces in modernising its infrastructure and
reforming its curriculum, the Saudi education system is changing. A
well educated population is a clear priority for the Government, with its
vast financial commitment to this sector opening huge opportunites for
British business.

DEFENCE & SECURITY

Huge Saudi defence budget
continues to represent
major opportunity for UK business
Given its size, location and huge oil resources, it is hardly surprising
that spending on defence and security is one of the largest single
elements in the Saudi budget, expected to total almost US$60 billion
in 2014, according to Business Monitor International (BMI), and to
exceed US$72 billion by 2018.
Saudi Arabia’s armed forces comprise the Saudi Arabian National
Guard (SANG), the Royal Saudi Land Forces, the Royal Saudi Air Force
(RSAF), the Royal Saudi Air Defence, and the Royal Saudi Navy. In
addition, there are more than 200,000 paramilitary forces protecting
infrastructure and other critical assets.
Defence imports have been dominated in recent years by US and
British companies and with the country’s modern arsenal, it makes it
one of the most armed defensive countries in the GCC region.
In its Saudi Defence and Security Report for Q3 2014, BMI notes that
Saudi Arabia maintained an average of 234,200 personnel across all of
its armed forces between 2003 and 2011. The country is a net importer
of military equipment on a huge scale, and the strength of the UK’s
relationship with the Kingdom has ensured that much of the equipment
supplied is British.

In February 2014, British Aerospace (BAE), the UK’s major defence
manufacturer and long time supplier of equipment to Saudi Arabia,
announced it had concluded price negotiations on a key deal to supply
72 Typhoon fighter aircraft to the Saudi Royal Air Force.
It was a deal, known as the Salem Project (Al-Salam), first arranged
eight years ago by former Defence Secretary, John Reid, which
guaranteed at least a decade’s work for the BAE plants at Warton and
Samlesbury in Northwest England and their 5,000 employees.
Saudi Arabia accounted for some 20% of the company’s US$28.9
billion turnover in 2013, and 5,300 of its employees are based in
the Kingdom.
Al-Salam was the latest example of the Saudi Government’s large
spending programme to upgrade and enhance its defensive
capabilities on the land, sea and air, which has also included the
largest foreign arms deal in US history, a US$60 billion order for new
and upgraded aircraft weapon systems announced in 2010, and
formalised in 2012.
Under the terms of this deal, the Royal Saudi Air Force is buying 84
new F-15 fighters from Boeing and upgrading another 70 F-15s
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already in service. It also includes more than 100 helicopters for the
Saudi Arabian National Guard, Army and Royal Guard. These include
70 AH-64D Apache Longbow attack helicopters built by Boeing,
72 Sikorsky UH-60M Black Hawk utility helicopters, 36 AH-6 Little
Bird armed reconnaissance helicopters also made by Boeing and 12
MD-530Fs.
In order to maintain a pool of trained pilots to fly these new combat
aircraft, another contract was signed in November of 2012, under the
Saudi-British Defence Cooperation Programme (SBDCP) for the
delivery of 22 Hawk trainer aircraft and 55 Pilatus PC-21 aircraft, in
addition to a variety of ground based training devices also provided by
BAE Systems. That US$2.5 billion deal is an upgrade from a previous
SBDCP deal that supplied the RSAF with 50 Hawk Mk.65s and 50
Pilatus PC-9s which was in addition to the Al-Salam deal for the 72
Eurofighter Typhoons.
Besides upgrading its Air Force, the Saudi Government is also looking
to strengthen its ground forces through its first major purchase of main
battle tanks since the 1990s. Saudi Arabia signed a US$4.1 billion deal
in July 2011 for 200 Leopard II tanks made by KraussMaffei Wegmann.
This deal could conceivably become much larger, as German
newspapers reported in December 2012 that Saudi Arabia was seeking
to triple or even quadruple its order to 600-800 tanks, worth some
US$12.6 billion if confirmed.
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Local presence is an increasingly important aspect of these
multibillion dollar arms deals, which are drawn up to also include
components which serve to further the country’s economic and
educational interests. As a result of what is called the Economic Offset
Programme (EOP), many of these major weapons system transactions
are subject to reciprocal agreements, or offsets, to mitigate the
substantial costs of the deal.
The offset is quantified using a separate set of criteria for each deal,
generally by employing a credit and multiplier system in which the

DEFENCE & SECURITY

In over 30 years of existence, the EOP has created
dozens of new companies that employ thousands of
workers across a wide range of industries.
Saudi Government can encourage specific types of offsets, direct
investment or knowledge transfer, for example. Under the oversight
from the Economic Offset Committee, the programme applies to all
defence contracts in excess of US$106.6 million, with contractors
responsible for providing offsets equal to 35% of the contract value.
In over 30 years of existence, the EOP has created dozens of new
companies that employ thousands of workers across a wide range
of industries, such as aerospace, energy, electronics, ICT, medicine
and medical supplies, chemicals and petrochemicals, and education
and training.
Examples of successful private sector Saudi companies, created
through EOP, include Al-Salam Aircraft Company (AAC), Advanced
Electronics, Aircraft Accessories and Components, and the Middle
East Propulsion Company (MEPC), and a software and systems
integration company, International Systems Engineering.

AAC and the MEPC, are among the most successful examples of what
these partnerships can achieve. AAC was established in 1988, as a
joint venture between Boeing, Saudi Arabian Airlines and the Saudi
Advanced Industries Company, and has expanded over the past three
decades to a company employing 3,500 people (more than half being
Saudi nationals) in aircraft maintenance, repair and overhaul business.
While its primary business is derived from servicing military aircraft,
the company has branched out into more civilian operations and has
signed maintenance contracts with Saudi Aramco for its C-130
transport planes as well as with Syrian Air and Air Atlanta Icelandic for
Boeing 747 airliners. Among military contracts it has won major deals
with the RSAF for the maintenance of its C-130 transporters and its
F-15 fighters.
MEPC too has built a successful business, working primarily for the
RSAF in maintaining engines. Current contracts include maintaining
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the F100-PW-220/220E engines made by Pratt & Whitney, which
power the F-15 fighters as well as the RB199 engines used in the
RSAF’s Tornado aircraft.
Within Saudi Arabia, a home grown defence industry is now beginning
to emerge. The Abdullah Al-Faris Company for Heavy Industries,
based in Dammam, manufactures the Al-Fahd Infantry Fighting
Vehicle and the Al-Faris 8-200 Armoured Personnel Carrier. The
company also produces the Ashibl 1 and Ashibl 2 armoured vehicles
for the Royal Saudi Land Forces and the Kingdom’s exclusive Special
Operations units.

Triple force protection and increasing intelligence, surveillance, and
reconnaissance are robust. The Royal Saudi Navy, along with the
Saudi Coast Guard, for their parts, are protecting the waters around
the Kingdom including seaport security. Their activities help prevent
contraband shipments as well as any potential armed attacks
on shipping.

Border security is another key area of further defensive capability. Both
the southern and northern borders of the Kingdom require constant
monitoring. Tough border security measures are always in place.
Besides fences and CCTV, there are also the use of UAVs and an
increase in border controls as well as listening devices.

Saudi Arabia is also making great strides in cyber security. The
Government has made significant investment in its national cyber
security and has an operational Computer Emergency Response Team
(CERT). Spending on cyber security is expected to total US$33 billion
in the period 2007-2018.

The Saudis view the region surrounding them as being in
political upheaval and are in the middle of fortifying their homeland.
Riyadh is taking these precautions to protect the Kingdom from
outside influences.

For the newest aircraft additions to the Kingdom’s military, the Saudis
are seeking a contractor to build their computer network defence
capabilities, to ensure full and protected support of the F-15s and
other aircraft. The Saudis have announced their intention to build a
new Secure Communications Facility, and a Cyber Security
Operations Centre.

There is also a vigorous network of Saudi defence for the Kingdom
which protects infrastructure, hydrocarbon facilities and pipelines.
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The Ministry of Interior, provides the bulk of land based solutions
and the Royal Saudi Navy conducts sea based protection. Protection
of oil installations is critical and is undertaken by special petroleum
police units.

DEFENCE & SECURITY

British Offset - Saudi British
Economic Offset Programme
The Saudi British Economic Offset Programme (SBEOP) has been in
operation for more than twenty years and originated from the purchases
of military equipment and associated support services by the Saudi
Government in the mid 1980’s. It continues to attract inward
investment into Saudi Arabia, through the creation of joint ventures
across a range of industrial sectors.
The SBEOP is managed on behalf of the UK Government by the British
Offset Office, part of the UK Ministry of Defence.
To date, fifteen projects have been implemented with total capital
investment exceeding US$2.53 billion. These joint venture projects
have created more than 2,300 jobs, with exports totalling in excess of
US$2.66 billion. Many more projects are currently being developed,
or are under consideration.

Projects implemented include, a US$640 million seamless pipe
manufacturing facility which employs more than 700 staff, of which
approximately 60% are Saudi nationals. The facility, a joint venture
between the local Saudi firm, Taqa and the Swiss company Durferco,
is located at the Royal Commission’s Jubail Industrial City, which is
reputed to be the largest industrial complex of its kind in the world. The
Arabian Amines Company, which is a joint venture between the AlZamil Group and the US Huntsman Corporation, is also located in
Jubail and manufactures a range of ethyleneamines for use in a variety
of applications, from asphalt additives to fabric softeners.
The latest project to be set up under the SBEOP, is the Global Pipe
Company. This is a joint venture between Erndtebruker Eisenwerk
(EEW) of Germany and Saudi Steel Pipe Company, Ahmed Hamed Al101

Whatever your
viewpoint...

it’s a land
of opportunity!
The Saudi British Economic Offset Programme brings together overseas companies with local
Saudi partners to develop new profitable business opportunities.
British Offset offers a unique package of advice, support and project financing to companies
interested in starting new joint ventures in Saudi Arabia
Wherever you might be from, if you have an idea, we want to hear about it.
In the United Kingdom

In Saudi Arabia

British Offset Office
4th Floor, Cromwell House
Dean Stanley Street
London SW1P 3JH
Tel: +44 (0)30 6770 2349
britishoffset@dgsap.mod.uk

British Offset Office
P.O. Box 1003
Riyadh 11431
Tel: 00 966 (0)11 445 9400 ext 3436
Fax: 00 966 (0)11 445 9406
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Khonaini and Pan Gulf Holding from Saudi Arabia. The plant which
began production in 2013, manufactures large diameter longitudinal
submerged arc-welded pipes, for use in the oil, gas, power and water
sectors. The factory is based in Jubail with a new purpose built facility
covering over 120,000m2 housing impressive state of the art
equipment including some of the largest pipe forming equipment in
the world.
The SBEOP allows inward investment from companies from most
countries around the world. British Offset is currently supporting
companies from the UK, USA, Canada, France, Germany, Italy,
Switzerland and Japan, helping them with their joint venture projects,
from first concepts through to formal proposals and implementation.
The Offset Programme considers joint ventures from most sectors and
more recently has actively promoted and assisted companies in the
renewable and solar energy sector.
Over the years, British Offset has built up considerable experience in
assisting with the development of joint ventures in Saudi Arabia, its
links with key decision makers in the Saudi Government can to help
bring early resolution of problems, which may emerge during the
formation of a joint venture, or indeed once it has been implemented.

Government approvals. A major benefit offered to the foreign partner of
a joint venture, is access to non-recourse finance for up to 50% of their
equity share. Many projects facilitated through the Offset Programme
have taken advantage of this equity loan facility, which is designed to
reduce financial exposure and enhance business returns.

The SBEOP offers many advantages, including help with partner
identification, free investment Bank advice in the early stages of project
development and advice and support in obtaining the necessary Saudi

More information on the Saudi British Economic Offset Programme
and the role of British Offset can be found on our website at
www.britishoffset.com
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Growing telecoms market
offers substantial opportunities to
international businesses
Saudi Arabia’s Information and Communication Technology (ICT)
market is the largest in the Middle East and represents 68% of the total
sector in the Arabian Gulf. The Kingdom’s public and private sectors
rely heavily on the services and products of foreign companies, so
representing significant opportunities for international suppliers.
Factors behind the growth of ICT in Saudi Arabia include the high
proportion of young people with significant purchasing power and
broad knowledge of the market. This has driven the industry to grow at
a rate of 15% each year since 2000, according to the US-Saudi Arabian
Business Council, with total spending reaching US$20 billion by 2010.
Development of the country’s ICT industry is regarded as a national
priority, with the aim of raising the industry’s contribution to GDP from
3% to 20% by 2020.
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In 2002, Saudi Arabia opened its telecoms market to competition,
following a 14 year monopoly held by the state run, and now partially
privatised, Saudi Telecom Company (STC). The sector has been
growing steadily ever since, with internet users as of June 2012,
at 13 million, and the total number of mobile subscribers being
approximately 51.14 million in Q4 2013, representing almost two
subscriptions per head of population.
Although this level of mobile subscriptions represented a slight
decline of around 3% on the previous year’s total, this was offset by
strong financial results for the Q1 of 2014, reported by Saudi Arabia's
three largest telecoms service providers, and reflected their strategies
for developing the Saudi telecoms market, by driving revenue growth
through high value services and improving their operating efficiencies.

TELECOMS

The Kingdom is moving ahead with digital economy developments. In
particular it is cutting red tape and streamlining business procedures,
resulting in praise from the World Bank in 2013, which acknowledged
Saudi Arabia’s efforts in implementing business reforms such as
electronic filing and new payment systems.
A National ICT Plan was implemented in 2007, which included a long
term vision for ICT over the next 20 years, along with an operational
Five Year Plan. The long term vision comprised a future outlook and
seven objectives, which included optimising the use of ICT throughout
all levels of education and training, and seeking to enable all sections
of society to deal with ICT easily and efficiently.
There were a number of specific objectives within the shorter Five Year
Plan. For the education sector, these included employment of ICT in
supporting education and training, the adoption of e-learning and
training of teachers and students in the use of ICT in the classroom.
Development of the necessary infrastructure was another objective,
including the provision of ICT systems in all educational institutions.
To drive ICT literacy, the King Abdullah bin Abdulaziz Public Education
Development Project (Tatweer), which began in 2007, sought to
achieve comprehensive educational development across all public
schools in the Kingdom. With a budget of US$2.4 billion, a principal

aim was to enhance education at all levels by integrating technology
into the curriculum and equip classrooms with modern digital
technologies. Under the programme, more than 400,000 teachers
were given training in computer applications to increase digital
literacy and confidence.
Giving an idea of the rapid increase in ICT education which Saudi
Arabia has undergone, figures compiled by Global Resource and
Information Directory show that the Saudi Ministry of Education has
overseen the deployment of more than 3,000 IT labs for all secondary
schools (around 51,000 PCs), 2,300 IT labs for intermediate and
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Development of the country’s ICT industry is
regarded as a national priority, with the aim of
raising the industry’s contribution to GDP from 3%
to 20% by 2020.
elementary schools (around 39,100 PCs) and more than 2,000
Learning Resource Centres (around 12,000 PCs).
From an investor’s point of view, the size of Saudi Arabia’s ICT market
represents excellent operational scale, as well as the advantages of
locating in a technology hub catering to over 350 million Arabic
speakers in the region. In addition, the youthful nature of Saudi
society - 60% of the population is under the age of 30 - means that
its consumer market is weighted towards technologically literate
early adopters.
The country’s low cost energy supply makes it an attractive location for
a range of activities across the ICT value chain. Data centres, for
example, can benefit from Saudi Arabia’s access to low cost power and
state of the art communications infrastructure, to efficiently service
global customers. Equipment and component production are also
highly energy intensive and require significant use of petroleum
derivatives such as chemicals and plastics.
Combined with attractive set up incentives, these advantages represent
considerable potential cost savings for hardware manufacturing and
assembly. At the same time, software and other content providers can
benefit from a secure environment for commercialisation, thanks to
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significant progress on Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) laws by the
Ministry of Commerce and the Communications and Information
Technology Commission (CITC).
As the Saudi telecoms market has been opened up to competition, the
principal challenger to STC has been Etihad Etisalat, which was
established in 2004 by a consortium led by Etisalat, the UAE based
telecoms conglomerate. Mobily, the brand name of Etihad Etisalat, has
developed into the second mobile service provider and in 2004, saw
its shares listed on Tadawul Stock Exchange, two years after those
of STC.
In March 2008, Mobily was granted approval by CITC to acquire
Bayanat al-Oula, which was a licenced Data Service Provider, and in
November 2008, Mobily acquired a majority stake in Zajil, the leading
Saudi Internet Service Provider (ISP). Today, Mobily has over 40%
market share of mobile subscriptions in the Kingdom and also owns a
controlling stake in the Saudi National Fibre Network (SNFN), a
12,800km network linking 35 Saudi cities.
In the meantime, STC signed an agreement earlier in 2014 with
Interactive Intelligence Group (Inin) to deliver various IT services.
Under the terms of this deal, STC’s Awal subsidiary will sell,
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implement and service Inin's contact centre, unified communications,
and business process automation software and solutions across all
sectors of the Saudi market. Awal already provides a wide range of
managed services and cloud-based solutions and this agreement is
part of the STC’s strategy to maintain its market leading position.
In its latest report on the Saudi Arabian IT market, Business Monitor
International (BMI) concluded that it would remain the biggest in the
Gulf region over the medium term, with continued support from
government policy and its clearly defined ICT policies, helped by the
country's relative political stability. At the same time, high income
levels in Saudi Arabia are a boon to premium vendors such as Apple,
as well as reducing consumers' appetite for counterfeit products, with
well developed formal distribution channels making it easier for
vendors to reach customers.
The BMI report forecasts computer hardware sales will rise from
US$2.74 billion in 2013 to US$2.84 billion in 2014, with desktop and
notebook volumes stabilising, and continued growth of the tablet
market. Within the software market, BMI anticipates a 7.4% rise from
US$960 million in 2013 to US$1.04 billion in 2014, while in IT
services it expects sales to rise 5.6% from US$1.33 billion in 2013 to
US$1.41 billion in 2014, driven principally by the adoption of cloud
computing services.

While 2013 saw lower volumes of desktop and notebook sales,
medium term prospects for the Saudi market look good. Taiwan’s
manufacturer Acer, for example, is looking for double digit growth in
2014 for its range of tablets and hybrid notebooks and Apple has been
reported in the local media as being close to establishing a subsidiary
in the Kingdom under the name Apple Saudi Arabia. Under this plan,
Apple would undertake a range of activities, including marketing,
support and maintenance, retail, and research.
In January 2014, the parent company of Al Hammadi Hospitals, signed
an agreement with Cisco and Wipro to launch three smart hospitals as
part of a US$24 million commitment to offer premium healthcare
services. Many other public and private healthcare institutions in the
Kingdom are also investing in new technologies and IT solutions to
improve efficiency and patient care, underlining the growing
importance of the healthcare sector to the country's IT market.
While it remains highly competitive, prospects for the Saudi telecoms
market overall look bright. Fixed broadband penetration is growing
strongly in the Kingdom, while mobile broadband has become a viable
alternative to fixed broadband, following substantial investments in 3G
and LTE technology. In a move towards liberalisation, three virtual
telecoms licences were awarded in 2013 and Mobile Virtual Network
Operator (MVNO) services are expected to start during 2014.
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The door has opened
to foreign tourist visitors
Saudi Arabia has long been recognised as a country with massive
potential for the development of a major tourist industry, yet
has remained effectively closed as a destination to all except
religious pilgrims, who represent a market worth an estimated US$16
billion a year, together with business travellers and the large
domestic tourism market.
Under current regulations, tourist visas have been available for the past
few years, but with tight restrictions. They are only issued to those
willing to travel as part of a group (minimum four people), which has
been organised by a recognised tour company. Women under the age
of 30 are only permitted if accompanied by their husband or brother
(who must also arrive and leave Saudi Arabia at the same time). Men
and women are only allowed to travel together if they are either married
or form part of a group.
That situation, however, is beginning to change. In December 2013,
the Government decided that it would issue tourist visas for the first
time, to encourage foreign visitors to its historical sites. The Saudi
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Commission for Tourism and Antiquities (SCTA) was given the task of
issuing tourist visas, based on regulations approved by the Ministries
of Interior and Foreign Affairs.
“This is a very good move”, said Abdelelah Saaty, Dean of the College
of Business in Rabigh, in an interview with Arab News. “We should
make Saudi Arabia a tourist friendly country and people should feel it
right from their arrival at the airport”.
Saaty praised the efforts of the SCTA President, Prince Sultan bin
Salman, to boost domestic tourism, but pointed out that a lot more
needs to be done to further strengthen the industry in terms of
improving services, building facilities such as hotels and motels and
training Saudis on how to manage foreign tourists.
Figures produced by the SCTA's statistical arm, the Tourism
Information and Research Centre, state that the total number of tourist
accommodation facilities (hotels, furnished apartments, hotel villas,
hotel apartments, tourism inns and roadside hotels) stood at 3,710 at
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the end of March 2014, of which 1,222 were hotels offering a total of
299,500 rooms across the Kingdom.
Despite remaining largely off limits to overseas tourists, there is no
shortage of investment in the country’s cultural heritage being made
for the benefit of domestic tourists. Close to Riyadh, for example, work
is taking place to complete the restoration of Saudi Arabia’s first
capital, the vast mud brick city of Al-Diriyah, which was founded in
1740 by the first King Saud.
Saudi Arabia’s tourist industry has experienced a rise in religious
tourists since the visa policy was relaxed and has seen growing
numbers of its citizens travelling domestically. In 2013, tourists to the
Kingdom from overseas increased by 10% to 16.7 million, while
Saudis made a total of 32 million tourist trips within the country, a rise
of 7.5% compared to the previous year, and there were 22.5 million
overseas trips made by Saudi residents.
The scale of religious tourism can be appreciated most clearly by the
numbers of Muslim pilgrims visiting Mecca. It welcomes more than
three million pilgrims a year during the month of Hajj, and around two
million during the month of Ramadan in Umrah. During the rest of the
year, Mecca hosts some four million pilgrims for Umrah.

“The market is developing fast and there is a demand in the quality of
tourism services in Saudi Arabia that is putting pressure on the whole
industry”, said Hamad Al Sheikh, the Vice President of Marketing and
Programmes at the SCTA, in a recent interview with The National.
Among initiatives aimed at easing access for the growing number of
tourists, are major improvements to the country’s transport
infrastructure. Upgrading King Khaled International Airport in Riyadh, for
example, will more than double its capacity to 35 million passengers a
year from a current figure of 18.5 million. Flights serving secondary
cities including Al-Qassim, Abha and Tabuk are also being increased.
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One of the highlights of Qasr Al-Hokm is the historic
Masmak fortress, which King Abdulaziz recaptured in
1902, setting the stage for the foundation of the
modern Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Tourism employs around 750,000 people at present - a number
expected to reach 1.2 million by 2020 - and contributes some US$20
billion, representing 2.7% of GDP. It is attracting major international
hotel groups to develop and expand throughout the Kingdom, and more
than 17,000 hotel rooms are currently under construction, significantly
more than in any neighbouring Gulf states.
“Developers and operators also see the opportunity for newer and
better hotels across the country, as the existing stock is dominated by
independently operated and low quality properties”, said Rashid
Aboobacker, a Senior Consultant with TRI Hospitality Consulting, in a
recent interview with The National. “The high level of liquidity and the
excellent return potential are also attracting strong private sector
interest in tourism investments in the country” he added.
A study on the potential for tourism development by the SCTA,
highlighted a number of factors encouraging investment in the Kingdom.
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Amongst these were the size and diversity of the country, the strength of
the economy, the length of its coastline, the purchasing power of Saudi
citizens, the pace of population growth and the long period of economic
and political stability which the country has experienced.
There is no question that the SCTA, set up in 2000 to promote tourism
in the Kingdom, has plenty of material to work with. Riyadh, the capital
city, combines its role as a geographic and cultural hub with a great
sense of tradition. Its historic Qasr Al-Hokm district has been carefully
preserved and restored to form the city’s cultural, commercial and
social centre.
One of the highlights of Qasr Al-Hokm is the historic Masmak fortress,
which King Abdulaziz recaptured in 1902, setting the stage for the
foundation of the modern Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Another highlight
is the Murabba’ Palace, a former home of King Abdulaziz, which has
been renovated as part of the King Abdulaziz Historical Centre.
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On the Red Sea, the port of Jeddah, Saudi Arabia’s second city,
combines being a vibrant commercial centre with one that boasts more
than 300 gardens and is home to one of the world’s tallest fountains.
There are a number of fine restored buildings within the city and its
coastal location, near spectacular Red Sea coral reefs, makes it a
popular spot for water sports.
Hotel development is taking place on a grand scale. There are a
projected 100 new developments scheduled, representing an
estimated US$93 billion worth of opportunities in the hospitality
sector over the next five years, according to the organisers of the
2014 Hotel Show Saudi Arabia, making the Kingdom the largest
hospitality projects market in the Middle East and North Africa.
Typical of the ambition for expansion in the Kingdom is operator
Millennium & Copthorne Middle East and Africa (MEA), which
announced earlier in 2014, the planned opening of 20 new hotels to
grow its network to 50 properties in the Kingdom by 2017. The hotel
group is focusing on primary cities such as Riyadh, Jeddah, Mecca
and Medina, but will also include second tier cities such as Ha’il, Jizan
and Al Bahah.
“Over the last three years, we grew our presence in the United Arab
Emirates and in Saudi Arabia. Religious and business tourism in these

two regions offer real opportunities for growth. Our plan is to be present
throughout the Saudi Kingdom”, declared Ali Hamad Lakhraim Alzaabi,
President and CEO.
Another international operator is Hilton Hotels, which announced in
March 2014, that it was adding the city of Al-Ahsa to its Saudi Arabian
portfolio, following a signing agreement with the Al Jazeera Group.
The 180 room Hilton Al-Ahsa, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, is expected to
open in 2016 and will be strategically located in an up and coming
area of the city, surrounded by a growing number of residential, retail
and commercial developments. The hotel will have direct access to the
city’s main thoroughfares and also enjoy being close to Al-Ahsa
Regional Airport.
A third international group with major expansion plans in Saudi Arabia
is Accor, which in February 2014 signed a partnership agreement to
develop ten properties in the country by 2018. They are partnering with
the local developer Omar Kassem Alesayi Group to develop the new
hotels and, as a first step, the two parties have signed a management
contract to open three hotels under the Ibis brand. These will be two
properties in the city of Jeddah, of respectively 200 and 300 rooms
and a 194 room hotel in Riyadh. Accor currently has 13 hotels in Saudi
Arabia, totaling 3,167 rooms.
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British Expertise
www.britishexpertise.org
Continued major investment in the Saudi Arabian construction and
infrastructure sectors ensures that the Kingdom is always of
substantial interest to British Expertise and its members. Over the
years our organisation has led numerous delegations to Saudi Arabia
looking at opportunities across the construction and infrastructure
sectors for UK consultancies.
British Expertise is the leading organisation supporting British
companies, wishing to offer professional services internationally. Our
members range from major international multidisciplinary
consultancies, to individual specialists. Our members are involved
world-wide in the development of social and physical infrastructure.
We provide members with a regular programme of informative events
and networking sessions. We receive overseas delegations, often at a
Ministerial level, and host events looking at pertinent international
business issues and new markets for UK companies. We also regularly
host briefing sessions with returning UK Ambassadors and senior
officials from the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO), UK Trade
& Investment (UKTI), the Department for International Development
(DFID) and other international agencies.
Our trade missions visit markets across Asia, Europe, Africa and
Oceania. These may take the form of missions run on behalf UKTI or
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the FCO, private or more focused scoping missions. They involve
programmes of meetings with local officials and businesses,
workshops and seminars to help companies gain an understanding of
the market and present UK expertise to local clients.
We disseminate to our members targeted leads for potential business
from all over the world and across a wide variety of sectors and
disciplines. We provide advice and support on how best to approach
overseas markets and can provide more substantial support on
countries and regions in which we have a current focus.
We raise issues with Government on the regional, UK and European
levels should it be deemed necessary for us to act as part of a group
to seek policy changes. We also have strong links with the international
development agencies and banks.
British Expertise is also home to UKTI’s Aid-Funded Business
Service, which raises the awareness of UK companies about
multilateral aid-funded business opportunities, and provides training
and advice. Additionally, we run the secretariat of the UK AntiCorruption forum, a key alliance of business associations,
professional institutions, civil society organisations and companies
with interests in the domestic and international infrastructure,
construction and engineering sectors.

Guiding British businesses to success in the
Middle East and North Africa for over 50 years

The Middle East Association (MEA) is the UK's leading business forum for promoting trade and investment with the Middle
East and North Africa. Founded in 1961 and based in London, the MEA is an independent, not-for-profit membership
association, representing around 350 organisations from all business and industry sectors.
With our unrivalled network of government and private sector contacts, longstanding experience and in-depth market
knowledge,we are uniquely placed to provide British companies with the intelligence, access and guidance they need to develop
their business successfully in the region.
Membership of the Association offers a range of benefits and incentives including special rates for our events and trade missions,
networking opportunities, consultancy advice and representation of members' interests to government, as well as access to
exclusive business intelligence and special offers through our website.
Do get in touch to find out more.

the-mea.co.uk
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The Middle East Association
www.the-mea.co.uk
Drawing on 60 years of heritage, the Middle East Association (MEA) is
active in developing strong trade relationships with Saudi Arabia. This
vitally important market - the largest economy in the region - is
diversifying quickly, and our members operate in a range of sectors
including IT development, education and training, infrastructure,
environmental consultancy, supply chain optimisation, and renewable
energy equipment manufacturing.
A primary function of the MEA is to introduce British companies to the
MENA markets and to help develop business networks to enhance
bilateral trade. The new knowledge economy in Saudi Arabia has
encouraged a renewed focus and offers profitable opportunities in its
diversification. Over half the population is under 25, so education and
training is a Government priority. The push towards Saudisation means
that the provision of technical skills and vocational expertise is at a
premium; Saudi Aramco, amongst others, has established partnerships
with UK universities with scope for much greater collaboration.
Twice a year the MEA takes a multi-sector trade mission to the
Kingdom, visiting the three commercial centres of Jeddah, Riyadh, and
Al Khobar. The visible signs of major projects coming to fruition are
very much in evidence, with many more to come. Several key UKTI
High Value Opportunities (HVO) are situated in Saudi Arabia, including
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the redevelopment of Jeddah International Airport and the addition of
32,000 hospital beds across the country. The HVO projects should
total US$1,000 billion of investment over the next 20 years. The latest
development of significance in KSA is the opening of the stock market
to foreign investors.
Every year we hold a one day conference in the Autumn focusing on
Saudi Arabia. Briefing British exporters of goods and services about
the market, the MEA will always highlight the country as a safe and
secure environment in which to do business; and there are no limits to
the amount of opportunities. It is time consuming, and can take
patience to become established in the market. Companies do find that
personal relationships are invaluable, and securing the right local
partner is key, but the extent of opportunity cannot be overstated.
In the MEA archives there is an excellent photograph of HRH King
Faisal bin Abdulaziz Al Saud visiting our offices around 1964. Our links
with Saudi Arabia were extensive and deep then, and over the
subsequent decades they have remained undiminished. There are over
200 Saudi-British joint ventures at present, but with huge scope in
every sector for greater cooperation. We value our historical
involvement with the Kingdom and will continue to promote its market
place as a natural destination for UK good and services.

helping you to elevate your organisation’s profile and reach new audiences

effective marketing, pr & publishing
using our experience, knowledge and high level contacts, we deliver exceptional customer service and results

public & media relations
conference & events

marketing

advertising
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www.allurentis.com
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Key Facts

A wide range of major infrastructure projects are currently
underway, including the development of four major new ‘Economic
Cities’, as well as a new national railway network, metro systems,
new airports and sea ports and social programmes to provide new
and improved housing, education and healthcare facilities.
This programme is set out in the country’s Ninth Development
Plan (2010-2014), which set as its principal aim, a rise in the
population’s standard of living and quality of life. This involves
further development of natural resources to stimulate new
downstream industries, with a key target being to increase
employment prospects for the Kingdom’s young people.
The huge increase in welfare spending enshrined in the Ninth
Development Plan has helped retain social peace in Saudi Arabia
and has spared the Kingdom the kind of upheaval which occured
elsewhere in the Middle East and North Africa during the ‘Arab
Spring’ which began in 2011.

SAUDI ARABIA

Transformation of Saudi Arabia into a world power has gathered pace, and
the Kingdom is in the midst of a process of using its vast oil based wealth
to build a more diverse economy, attracting industry and inward
investment and securing greater employment prospects for its growing
and young population.
Saudi Arabia possesses the largest proven global petroleum deposits
totalling more than 265 billion barrels, a quarter of the world’s
proven reserves, and also holds 7.8 trillion m3 of natural gas, the fifth
highest reserves in the world. In addition, a wide range of solid minerals,
such as phosphates, are now being exploited and are set to add further
value to already huge revenue streams generated from the country’s
natural resources.
116

There are signs now that there will be a slight change of emphasis
during the period of the Tenth Development Plan, with the country
targeting annual economic growth of 5%, in the years 2015 to
2019, covered by the new plan. Budgeted State spending in 2014,
is expected to show a modest 4.3% increase over 2013, the
lowest increase for a decade and an indication that the country will
slow down its capital spending programme.
“The Tenth Development Plan should concentrate more, this time
on the quality of the spending, the quality of the deliverables and
the quality of the services that are provided to our people”,
Economy and Planning Minister, Mohammed Al-Jasser told the
press at a recent conference.
Private sector involvement in the Kingdom’s plans for economic
development and diversification is crucially important and the
country is keen to increase inward investment into its expanding
industrial base and to secure international skills in the awarding of
contracts for its major infrastructure spending, in areas such as
construction, railways and healthcare.

KEY FACTS

SAUDI ARABIA
Head of State: King Abdullah bin Abdulaziz Al Saud
Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Defence: Prince Salman bin Abdulaziz Al Saud
Last municipal elections: September 2011
Land Area: 2,149,690km2
Coastline: 2,640km
Border countries: Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, UAE, Yemen
Provinces: Riyadh, Madinah, Makkah, Asir, Eastern, Tabuk, Al-Qassim, Al Jouf, Ha’il, Najran, Northern Borders, Jizan, Al Bahah
Capital: Riyadh
Total Population: 29.99 million (January 2014 estimate)
Population of capital: 5,451,000
Main cities: Jeddah, Mecca, Medina, Dammam
Climate: Harsh, dry desert with great temperature extremes
Language: Arabic
Religion: Islam
Ethnic groups: Arab, Afro-Asian
Monetary unit: Saudi Riyals (SAR)
Natural resources: Petroleum, natural gas, iron ore, gold, copper
Main industries: Crude oil production, petroleum refining, basic petrochemicals, ammonia, industrial gases, sodium hydroxide (caustic soda),
cement, fertiliser, plastics, metals, commercial ship repair, commercial aircraft repair, construction
Major exports: Petroleum and petroleum products
Main export trading countries: US (14.2%), Japan (13.6%), China (13.6%), South Korea (9.9%, India (8.2%), Singapore (4.3%)
Major imports: Machinery and equipment, foodstuffs, chemicals, motor vehicles, textiles
Main import trading countries: US (13.7%), China (13.5%), South Korea (6.6%), Germany (6.5%), India (6.3%) Japan (6%)
Internet domain: .sa
International dialling code: +966
Sources: CIA World Factbook | Central Department of Statistics & Information

117

SAUDI ARABIA - 2014|2015 DISCOVERING BUSINESS

Featured Contacts
A
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Abdullah Al-Faris Company for Heavy Industries:
www.alfarisgroup.com
Abdul Latif Jameel: www.alj.com
Accor: www.accor.com
Acer: www.acer.com
ACWA Power: www.acwapower.com
Advanced Electronics Company: www.aecl.com
AECOM: www.aecom.com
Aegis: www.aegisworld.com
Agility: www.agility.com
Air Atlanta Icelandic: www.atlanta.is
Al Abdulkarim Holding: www.akh.com
Al Arrab Contracting: arrab.com
Al Balad Al Ameen Company: albaladalameen.com.sa
Alcoa: alcoa.com
Al Masane Al Khobra Company: www.arabianamericandev.net
Al Othaim: www.othaimholding.com
Al Rajhi Capital: www.alrajhi-capital.com
Al Rashed: www.alrashed.com
Al Shoula: alshoulagroup.com
Al Suwaiket Company: alsuwaiket.com
Allurentis: www.allurentis.com
Alpen Capital: www.alpencapital.com
Al-Zamil Group: www.zamil.com
Apple: www.apple.com

Asciano: asciano.com.au
Arab British Chamber of Commerce: www.abcc.org.uk
Arab Consulting Engineering Centre: acec-sa.com
Arabian Enterprise Incubators: www.aeisaudi.com
Arabian Amines Company: aminat.com.sa
Arup: www.arup.com
Arqaam Capital: www.arqaamcapital.com
A.T. Kearney: www.atkearney.com
Al Tamimi & Company: www.tamimi.com
Awal: www.awal.com.sa

B

BAE Systems: www.baesystems.com
Bechtel: www.bechtel.com
Bershka: www.bershka.com
Bin Dawood: www.bindawood.com
Boeing: www.boeing.com
Boots: www.boots.com
Bouygues: www.bouygues.com
BMW: www.bmw.com
British Aerospace: www.baesystems.com
British Expertise: www.britishexpertise.org
British Home Stores: www.bhs.co.uk
British Offset Office: www.britishoffset.com
Burberry: www.burberry.com
Buro Happold: www.burohappold.com
Business Monitor International: www.businessmonitor.com

FEATURED CONTACTS

C

D

E

F

Chalhoub Group: www.chalhoub-group.com
Children's Place: www.childrensplace.com
China Harbour Engineering Company: www.checlatin.com
China Railway Engineering Corp: www.crecg.com
China Railway 18th Bureau: www.cr18g.com
Cisco: www.cisco.com
Clifford Chance: www.cliffordchance.com
Communications and Information Technology Commission (CITC):
www.citc.gov.sa
Council of Saudi Chambers: www.csc.org.sa
Daelim Industrial Company: www.daelim.co.kr
Dallah Healthcare: dallahhealth.com
Debenhams: www.debenhams.com
Department for International Development (DFID): www.dfid.gov.uk
Dow Chemicals: www.dow.com
Durferco: www.duferco.com
EC Harris: www.echarris.com
Economist Intelligence Unit: www.eiu.com
Electricity and Co-Generation Regulatory Authority (ECRA):
ecra.gov.sa
ElectroMotive Diesel Inc: emdiesels.com
Emaar Economic City Company: www.emaar.com
Energy Industries Council: www.the-eic.com
Erndtebruker Eisenwerk (EEW): eewiran.com
Ernst & Young: www.ey.com
Etihad Etisalat: www.etisalat.ae
Fawaz Alhokair & Company: www.fawazalhokair.com
Fluor Corporation: www.fluor.com
Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO): www.fao.org

Foreign & Commonwealth Office: www.fco.gov.uk
Foster & Partners: www.fosterandpartners.com
Fotowatio Renewable Ventures: www.frv.com
Fraport AG: www.fraport.com
Furla: www.furla.com

G

Galeries Lafayette: www.galerieslafayette.com
General Authority of Civil Aviation (GACA): www.gaca.gov.sa
General Electric: www.ge.com
General Organisation for Social Insurance: www.gosi.gov.sa
GlaxoSmithKline (GSK): www.gsk.com
Globe Group: www.globe-group.co.uk

H

Hanwha Engineering & Construction Co.: www.hwenc.com
Harvey Nichols: www.harveynichols.com
Hill International: www.hillintl.com
Hilton: www.hilton.com
H&M: www.hm.com
HOK: www.hok.com
HSBC: www.hsbc.com
Huanqiu Contracting & Engineering Corp.: www.hqcec.com
Huntsman Corporation: huntsman.com
Hyatt: www.hyatt.com
Hyder Consulting: www.hyderconsulting.com
Hyundai: hyundai-saudiarabia.com

I

Ibis: www.ibis.com
Imperial College: www.imperial.ac.uk
Inchcape Shipping Services: www.iss-shipping.com
Indra: www.indracompany.com
Intecsa Industrial: www.intecsaindustrial.com
Intercontinental: www.intercontinental.com
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International Monetary Fund (IMF): www.imf.org
International Systems Engineering: www.ise.sa
Intertek: www.intertek.com
Islamic Development Bank: www.isdb.org
Italferr: www.italferr.it

J

K
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Jabal Omar Development Company: www.jabalomar.com.sa
Jacobs Company: jacobs.com
Jaguar Land Rover: www.jaguarlandrover.com
Jazan Economic City (JEC): www.jazanecity.com
Jeddah Islamic Port: www.ports.gov.sa
Jeddah Metro Company: www.jdurc.com
Jeddah Municipality: www.jeddah.gov.sa
Jeddah Urban Development Company: www.jdurc.com
Jones Lang LaSalle: www.jll.co.uk
King Abdulaziz Airport: www.jed-airport.com
King Abdulaziz City for Science and Technology (KACST):
www.kacst.edu.sa
King Abdulaziz Port: www.ports.gov.sa
King Abdullah Economic City (KAEC): www.kingabdullahcity.com
King Abdullah Foundation: www.kaf.org.sa
King Abdullah Financial District: www.kingabdullahfinancialdistrict.com
King Abdullah Medical City: www.kamc.med.sa
King Abdullah Science Park (KASP): dtv.kfupm.edu.sa
King Abdullah University of Science and Technology (KAUST):
www.kaust.edu.sa
King Fahd Medical City: www.kfmc.med.sa
King Faisal Centre for Research and Islamic Studies: www.kff.com
King Khaled International Airport: www.riyadh-airport.com
King Khaled Medical City: www.kkmc.med.sa
King Saud University Science Park: www.ksu.edu.sa
King’s College Hospital: www.kch.nhs.uk

Knowledge Economic City (KEC): www.madinahkec.com/
Korea Trade Insurance Corporation: m.ksure.or.kr
KPMG: www.kpmg.com
Kroll: www.kroll.com

L

LG Electronics: www.lg.com
Louis Berger: louisberger.com
L’Oreal: www.loreal.com
Louvre Group: www.louvregroup.com
Liu Jo: www.liujo.com
LuLu: saudi.luluhypermarket.com

M

Ma’aden Saudi Arabian Mining Company: www.maaden.com.sa
Mada Group: www.mada.jo
Majid Al Futtaim: www.majidalfuttaim.com
Marks & Spencer: www.marksandspencer.com
Marriott: www.marriott.com
Mars: www.mars.com
MASIC: www.masic.com.sa
M H Alshaya: www.alshaya.com
Middle East Association: the-mea.co.uk
Middle East Propulsion Company (MEPC): www.mepcsa.com
Millennium & Copthorne Middle East and Africa (MEA):
www.millenniumhotels.com
Ministry of Agriculture and Water: www.agrwat.gov.sa
Ministry of Civil Service: www.mcs.gov.sa
Ministry of Commerce: www.commerce.gov.sa
Ministry of Commerce and Industry: www.mci.gov.sa
Ministry of Defence and Aviation: www.moda.gov.sa
Ministry of Education: www.moe.gov.sa
Ministry of Finance: www.mof.gov.sa
Ministry of Foreign Affairs: www.mofa.gov.sa

FEATURED CONTACTS
Ministry of Haj: www.haj.org.sa
Ministry of Health: www.moh.gov.sa
Ministry of Higher Education: www.mohe.gov.sa
Ministry of Information: www.saudinf.com
Ministry of Interior: www.moi.gov.sa
Ministry of Justice: www.moj.gov.sa
Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs: www.mol.gov.sa
Ministry of Petroleum and Mineral Resources: www.mopm.gov.sa
Ministry of Planning: www.planning.gov.sa
Ministry of Public Works and Housing: www.mpwh.gov.sa
Ministry of Transport: www.mot.gov.sa
Ministry of Water and Electricity: www.mowe.gov.sa
Mitsui: www.mitsui.com
Mobily: www.mobily.com.sa
Morris International Associates: ann@mia.gb.com
Mosaic: mosaicsaudia.com
Mothercare: www.mothercare.com

N

National Commercial Bank: www.alahli.com
National Environmental Preservation Company (Beea’h):
www.beeah.com
National Medical Care Co: www.care.med.sa
National Water Company: www.nwc.com.sa
NATO: www.nato.int
NCB Capital: www.ncbc.com
Netherlands Airport Consultants (NACO): www.naco.nl
Network Rail Consulting: www.networkrailconsulting.co.uk
New Look: www.newlook.com

O

OECD: www.oecd.org
Olayan: www.olayan.com
Omar Kassem Alesayi Group: www.alesayi.com
OPEC: www.opec.org

P

Parsons Brinkerhoff: www.pbworld.com
Petrofac: www.petrofac.com
Ports Development Company (PDC): www.portsdevco.com
Pratt & Whitney: www.pw.utc.com
Prince Abdulaziz bin Mousaed Economic City: www.pabm-ec.com
Princess Noura University: www.pnu.edu.sa
PwC: www.pwc.com

R

Railway Consultancy: www.railwayconsultant.co.uk
Reckitt Benckiser: www.rb.com
Reuters: www.reuters.com
Rezayat: www.rezayat.com
Riyadh Development Authority: www.arriyadh.com
Rolls-Royce: www.rolls-royce.com

S

SABB Takaful: www.sabbtakaful.com
SABIC: www.sabic.com
Saline Water Conversion Corporation (SWCC): swcc.gov.sa
Saudi Arabian Airlines: www.saudiairlines.com
Saudi Aramco: www.saudiaramco.com
Saudi Advanced Industries Company: saic.com.sa
Sadara Chemical Company: www.sadara.com
Samba: www.samba.com
Saudi Credit Bank: www.scb.gov.sa
Saudi Industrial Development Fund (SIDF): www.sidf.gov.sa
Saline Water Conversion Corporation (SWCC): www.swcc.gov.sa
Saudi Arabian Airlines: www.saudiairlines.com
Saudi Arabian General Investment Authority: www.sagia.gov.sa
Saudi Arabian Mining Company (Ma’aden): www.maaden.com
Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA): www.sama.gov.sa
Saudi Arabia’s United Arabian Mining Company (MANAJEM):
www.manajem.com
Saudi Aramco: www.saudiaramco.com
121

SAUDI ARABIA - 2014|2015 DISCOVERING BUSINESS

Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC): www.sabic.com
Saudi Binladin Group: www.sbg.com.sa
Saudi British Bank (SABB): www.sabb.com
Saudi British Relations Information Service: www.saudibrit.com
Saudi Commission for Tourism and Antiquities (SCTA):
www.scta.gov.sa
Saudi Committee for International Trade: www.saudibrit.com/cit
Saudi Electricity Company (SEC): www.se.com.sa
Saudi Embassy London: www.saudiembassy.org.uk
Saudi-Fransi Bank: www.alfransi.com.sa/en
Saudi Geological Survey: www.sgs.org.sa
Saudi Hollandi Bank: www.shb.com.sa
Saudi Industrial Development Fund: www.sidf.gov.sa
Saudi Industrial Property Authority (MODON): www.modon.gov.sa
Saudi Industrial Services Company: www.sisco.com.sa
Saudi Oger: www.saudioger.com
Saudi Ports Authority (SPA): www.ports.gov.sa
Saudi Railway Company: www.sar.com.sa
Saudi Railways Organisation (SRO): www.saudirailways.org
Saudi Steel Pipe Company: www.sspipe.com
Saudi Telecom: www.stc.com.sa
Serco: www.serco.com
Shell: www.shell.com
Showa Shell: www.showa-shell.co.jp
Siemens: www.siemens.com
Sinopec: www.sinopecgroup.com
SNC Lavalin: www.snclavalin.com
Solar Frontier: www.solar-frontier.com
Squire Sanders: www.squiresanders.com
Starbucks: www.starbucks.com
Starwood: www.starwoodhotels.com
Sulaiman Al-Habib Medical Group: www.drsulaimanalhabib.com
Supreme Economic Council: www.sec.gov.sa
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Syrian Air: saic.com.sa
Systra: www.systra.com

T

Tadawul: www.tadawul.com.sa
Takaful: www.takaful.com.sa
Tarabot: www.tarabot.net
Tatweer: www.tatweerhc.com
Taqa: www.taqaglobal.com
Technical and Vocational Training Corporation: www.tvtc.gov.sa
Tesco: www.tesco.com
Thales: www.thalesgroup.com
Top Shop: www.topshop.com
Total: www.total.com
TRI Hospitality Consulting: www.trihospitality.com

U

UK Trade & Investment: www.ukti.gov.uk
UNESCO: www.unesco.org
United Sugar Refinery: www.unitedsugar.com
US-Saudi Arabian Business Council: www.us-sabc.org

W

Wipro: www.wipro.com
World Bank: www.worldbank.org
World Economic Forum: www.weforum.org
World Health Organisation (WHO): www.who.int
World Trade Organisation: www.wto.org
WS Atkins: www.atkinsglobal.com
WSP: www.wspgroup.com

Y

Yanbu Industrial Port: www.ports.gov.sa
Yousuf M.A. Naghi: www.naghi-group.com

Z

Zaha Hadid: www.zaha-hadid.com
Zajil: zajil.com
Zamil Industrial Investment Company: www.zamilindustrial.com
Zuhair Fayez Partnership: www.zfp.com

